
 
 

 County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Monday, 24 January 2022 

 

Notice of meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Tuesday, 1st February, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Appointment of Vice-Chair. 

 
 

2.   Apologies for Absence. 

 
 

3.   Declarations of Interest. 

 
 

4.   To confirm for accuracy the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
1 - 12 

5.   To consider the following Planning Application reports from the Chief 
Officer - Enterprise (copies attached): 

 

 

5.1.   Application DM/2021/01277 - Retention of existing 100-seater stand. 
Proposed 100 seated stand, proposed 50 seated stand and extension to 
car park. Chepstow Town AFC, Larkfield Park, Chepstow, NP16 5PR. 

 

13 - 24 

5.2.   Application DM/2021/01367 - Change of use of building from offices to 
single dwelling with associated works. Ashbourne House, 33 Bridge 
Street, Chepstow. 

 

25 - 34 

5.3.   Application DM/2021/01421 - Installation of new solar panels to roofs of 
existing railway carriages. Old Station, Tintern, Chepstow, NP16 7NX. 

 

35 - 44 

6.   FOR INFORMATION - The Planning Inspectorate - Appeals Decisions 
Received: 

 

 

6.1.   Ravensnest Fishery, Ravensnest Wood Road, Tintern. 

 
45 - 46 

 
Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

 
 

Public Document Pack



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE IS AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
County Councillor Ruth Edwards Llantilio Crossenny; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Jeremy Becker St. Mary's; Liberal Democrats 
County Councillor Louise Brown Shirenewton; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Alan Davies Green Lane; Independent 
County Councillor Tony Easson Dewstow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor David Evans West End; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Mat Feakins Drybridge; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Roger Harris Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jim Higginson Severn; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Giles Howard Llanfoist Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Paul Jordan Cantref; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Phil Murphy Caerwent; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Maureen Powell Castle; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Ann Webb St Arvans; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Sheila Woodhouse 
Vacancy 

Grofield; Welsh Conservative Party 

 
:  

 
Public Information 

 

Any person wishing to speak at Planning Committee must do so by registering 
with Democratic Services by no later than 12 noon two working days before the 
meeting.  Details regarding public speaking can be found within this agenda  
 
 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a 
hard copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting may be viewed online by visiting the link below. 
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=141 
 
This will take you to the page relating to all Planning Committee meetings. Please click on the 
relevant Planning Committee meeting. You will then find the link to view the meeting on this 
page. Please click the link to view the meeting. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh 
or English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with 5 days notice prior to the meeting 
should you wish to speak in Welsh so we can accommodate your needs.  

 

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2FieListMeetings.aspx%3FCommitteeId%3D141&data=02%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C93f34698f3224d15a82408d813976feb%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637280888418511406&sdata=M38OSo5r%2FKQ%2Fra1tJoQ4RHie9Tbzh%2FrNhFY8kvwfF%2FE%3D&reserved=0


Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 

 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot 

do something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if 

we can’t answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building 

trust and engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does 

not seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly 

and consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and 

explaining why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective 

and efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to 

embrace new ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get 

involved so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or 

problem-solvers, but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to 

make sure we do the things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of 

relationships and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



Purpose 
The purpose of the attached reports and associated officer presentation to the Committee is to 
allow the Planning Committee to make a decision on each application in the attached 
schedule, having weighed up the various material planning considerations.  
 
The Planning Committee has delegated powers to make decisions on planning applications. 
The reports contained in this schedule assess the proposed development against relevant 
planning policy and other material planning considerations, and take into consideration all 
consultation responses received.  Each report concludes with an officer recommendation to 
the Planning Committee on whether or not officers consider planning permission should be 
granted (with suggested planning conditions where appropriate), or refused (with suggested 
reasons for refusal).  
 
Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the Monmouthshire Local Development 
Plan 2011-2021 (adopted February 2014), unless material planning considerations indicate 
otherwise.  
 
Section 2(2) of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 states that the planning function must be 
exercised, as part of carrying out sustainable development in accordance with the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, for the purpose of ensuring that the development and 
use of land contribute to improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales. 
 
The decisions made are expected to benefit the County and our communities by allowing good 
quality development in the right locations, and resisting development that is inappropriate, poor 
quality or in the wrong location.  There is a direct link to the Council’s objective of building 
sustainable, resilient communities. 
 
Decision-making 

Applications can be granted subject to planning conditions. Conditions must meet all of the 
following criteria: 

 Necessary to make the proposed development acceptable; 

 Relevant to planning legislation (i.e. a planning consideration); 

 Relevant to the proposed development in question; 

 Precise; 

 Enforceable; and 

 Reasonable in all other respects. 

 
Applications can be granted subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). This secures planning obligations to offset the 
impacts of the proposed development. However, in order for these planning obligations to be 
lawful, they must meet all of the following criteria: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
The applicant has a statutory right of appeal against the refusal of permission in most cases, 
or against the imposition of planning conditions, or against the failure of the Council to 
determine an application within the statutory time period. There is no third party right of appeal 
against a decision. 
 
The Planning Committee may make decisions that are contrary to the officer recommendation.  
However, reasons must be provided for such decisions, and the decision must be based on 
the Local Development Plan (LDP) and/or material planning considerations.  Should such a 
decision be challenged at appeal, Committee Members will be required to defend their 
decision throughout the appeal process. 
 



 
Planning policy context 
 
Future Wales – the national plan 2040 is the national development framework, setting the 
direction for development in Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for 
addressing key national priorities through the planning system, including sustaining and 
developing a vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing 
strong ecosystems and improving the health and well-being of our communities.  Future Wales 
– the national plan 2040 is the national development framework and it is the highest tier plan , 
setting the direction for development in Wales to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on 
by Strategic Development Plans at a regional level and Local Development Plans.  Planning 
decisions at every level of the planning system in Wales must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole.  
 
Monmouthshire’s Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out the Council’s vision and 
objectives for the development and use of land in Monmouthshire, together with the policies 
and proposals to implement them over a 10 year period to 2021. The plan area excludes that 
part of the County contained within the Brecon Beacons National Park. It has a fundamental 
role in delivering sustainable development. In seeking to achieve this it sets out a framework 
for the development and use of land and for the protection of the environment. It also guides 
and facilitates investment decisions as well as the delivery of services and infrastructure. It 
determines the level of provision and location of new housing, employment and other uses and 
sets the framework for considering all land use proposals during the plan period. 
The LDP contains over-arching policies on development and design. Rather than repeat these 
for each application, the full text is set out below for Members’ assistance. 
 
Policy EP1 - Amenity and Environmental Protection 

Development, including proposals for new buildings, extensions to existing buildings and 
advertisements, should have regard to the privacy, amenity and health of occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  Development proposals that would cause or result in an 
unacceptable risk /harm to local amenity, health, the character /quality of the countryside or 
interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance due to the following 
will not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated that measures can be taken to overcome 
any significant risk: 

- Air pollution; 

- Light  or noise pollution; 

- Water pollution; 

- Contamination; 

- Land instability; 

- Or any identified risk to public health or safety. 

 
Policy DES1 – General Design Considerations 

All development should be of a high quality sustainable design and respect the local character 
and distinctiveness of Monmouthshire’s built, historic and natural environment. Development 
proposals will be required to: 

a) Ensure a safe, secure, pleasant and convenient environment that is accessible to all 

members of the community, supports the principles of community safety and 

encourages walking and cycling; 

b) Contribute towards sense of place whilst ensuring that the amount of development and 

its intensity is compatible with existing uses; 

c) Respect the existing form, scale, siting, massing, materials and layout of its setting and 

any neighbouring quality buildings; 

d) Maintain reasonable levels of privacy and amenity of occupiers of neighbouring 

properties, where applicable; 

e) Respect built and natural views and panoramas where they include historical features 

and/or attractive or distinctive built environment or landscape; 



f) Use building techniques, decoration, styles and lighting to enhance the appearance of 

the proposal having regard to texture, colour, pattern, durability and craftsmanship in 

the use of materials; 

g) Incorporate and, where possible enhance existing features that are of historical, visual 

or nature conservation value and use the vernacular tradition where appropriate; 

h) Include landscape proposals for new buildings and land uses in order that they 

integrate into their surroundings, taking into account the appearance of the existing 

landscape and its intrinsic character, as defined through the LANDMAP process. 

Landscaping should take into account, and where appropriate retain, existing trees and 

hedgerows; 

i) Make the most efficient use of land compatible with the above criteria, including that 

the minimum net density of residential development should be 30 dwellings per 

hectare, subject to criterion l) below; 

j) Achieve a climate responsive and resource efficient design. Consideration should be 

given to location, orientation, density, layout, built form and landscaping and to energy 

efficiency and the use of renewable energy, including materials and technology; 

k) Foster inclusive design; 

l) Ensure that existing residential areas characterised by high standards of privacy and 

spaciousness are protected from overdevelopment and insensitive or inappropriate 
infilling. 

 
Other key relevant LDP policies will be referred to in the officer report. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 

The following Supplementary Planning Guidance may also be of relevance to decision-making 

as a material planning consideration: 

- Green Infrastructure (adopted April 2015) 

- Conversion of Agricultural Buildings Design Guide (adopted April 2015) 

- LDP Policy H4(g) Conversion/Rehabilitation of Buildings in the Open Countryside to 

Residential Use- Assessment of Re-use for Business Purposes (adopted April 2015) 

- LDP Policies H5 & H6 Replacement Dwellings and Extension of Rural Dwellings in the 

Open Countryside (adopted April 2015) 

- Abergavenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Caerwent Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Chepstow Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Grosmont Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llanarth Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llandenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llandogo Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llanover Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llantilio Crossenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Magor Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Mathern Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Monmouth Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Raglan Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Shirenewton Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- St Arvans Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Tintern Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Trellech Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted April 2012) 

- Usk Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Whitebrook Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Domestic Garages (adopted January 2013) 

- Monmouthshire Parking Standards (adopted January 2013) 

- Approach to Planning Obligations (March 2013) 

- Affordable Housing (revised version) (adopted July 2019) 



- Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (adopted March 2016) 

- Planning Advice Note on Wind Turbine Development Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment Requirements (adopted March 2016) 

- Primary Shopping Frontages (adopted April 2016) 

- Rural Conversions to a Residential or Tourism Use (Policies H4 and T2) 

Supplementary Planning Guidance November 2017 

- Sustainable Tourism Accommodation Supplementary Guidance November 2017 

- Affordable Housing Supplementary Guidance July 2019 

- Infill Development Supplementary Guidance November 2019 

 
National Planning Policy 

The following national planning policy may also be of relevance to decision-making as a 

material planning consideration: 

- Future Wales: the national plan 2040 

 

- Planning Policy Wales (PPW) edition10 (at time of publication) 

 

- PPW Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 

- TAN 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015) 

- TAN 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 

- TAN 3: Simplified Planning Zones (1996) 

- TAN 4: Retailing and Town Centres (1996) 

- TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

- TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 

- TAN 7: Outdoor Advertisement Control (1996) 

- TAN 8: Renewable Energy (2005) 

- TAN 9: Enforcement of Planning Control (1997) 

- TAN 10: Tree Preservation Orders (1997) 

- TAN 11: Noise (1997) 

- TAN 12: Design (2016) 

- TAN 13: Tourism (1997) 

- TAN 15: Development, flooding and coastal erosion (2021)  

- TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 

- TAN 18: Transport (2007) 

- TAN 19: Telecommunications (2002) 

- TAN 20: The Welsh Language (2013) 

- TAN 21: Waste (2014) 

- TAN 23: Economic Development (2014) 

- TAN 24: The Historic Environment (2017) 

- Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 1: Aggregates (30 March 2004) 

- Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 2: Coal (20 January 2009) 

- Welsh Government Circular 016/2014 on planning conditions 

 

Other matters 

The following other legislation may be of relevance to decision-making. 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 

As of January 2016, Sections 11 and 31 of the Planning Act come into effect meaning the 

Welsh language is a material planning consideration.  

Section 31 of the Planning Act clarifies that considerations relating to the use of the Welsh 

language can be taken into account by planning authorities when making decisions on 

applications for planning permission, so far as material to the application. The provisions do 

not apportion any additional weight to the Welsh language in comparison to other material 



considerations.  Whether or not the Welsh language is a material consideration in any planning 

application remains entirely at the discretion of the local planning authority, and the decision 

whether or not to take Welsh language issues into account should be informed by the 

consideration given to the Welsh language as part of the LDP preparation process.  Section 11 

requires the sustainability appraisal, undertaken as part of LDP preparation, to include an 

assessment of the likely effects of the plan on the use of Welsh language in the community. 

Where the authority’s current single integrated plan has identified the Welsh language as a 

priority, the assessment should be able to demonstrate the linkage between consideration for 

the Welsh language and the overarching Sustainability Appraisal for the LDP, as set out in 

TAN 20. 

The adopted Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (LDP) 2014 was subject to a 

sustainability appraisal, taking account of the full range of social, environmental and economic 

considerations, including the Welsh language.  Monmouthshire has a relatively low proportion 

of population that speak, read or write Welsh compared with other local authorities in Wales 

and it was not considered necessary for the LDP to contain a specific policy to address the 

Welsh language. The conclusion of the assessment of the likely effects of the plan on the use 

of the Welsh language in the community was minimal.  

Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2016 

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 

2016 are relevant to the recommendations made.  The officer report will highlight when an 

Environmental Statement has been submitted with an application. 

Conservation of Species & Habitat Regulations 2010  

Where an application site has been assessed as being a breeding site or resting place for 

European Protected Species, it will usually be necessary for the developer to apply for 

‘derogation’ (a development licence) from Natural Resources Wales.  Examples of EPS are all 

bat species, dormice and great crested newts. When considering planning applications 

Monmouthshire County Council as Local Planning Authority is required to have regard to the 

Conservation of Species & Habitat Regulations 2010 (the Habitat Regulations) and to the fact 

that derogations are only allowed where the three tests set out in Article 16 of the Habitats 

Directive are met. The three tests are set out below. 

(i) The derogation is in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 

nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment. 

(ii) There is no satisfactory alternative 

(iii) The derogation is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species 

concerned ay a favourable conservation status in their natural range. 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

This Act is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales.  The Act sets out a number of well-being goals: 

- A prosperous Wales: efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 

wealth, provides jobs; 

- A resilient Wales: maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that support 

resilience and can adapt to change (e.g. climate change); 

- A healthier Wales: people’s physical and mental wellbeing is maximised and health 

impacts are understood; 

- A Wales of cohesive communities: communities are attractive, viable, safe and well 

connected; 

- A globally responsible Wales: taking account of impact on global well-being when 

considering local social, economic and environmental wellbeing; 



- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: culture, heritage and 

Welsh language are promoted and protected.  People are encouraged to do sport, art 

and recreation; 

- A more equal Wales: people can fulfil their potential no matter what their background 

or circumstances. 

 

A number of sustainable development principles are also set out: 
- Long term: balancing short term need with long term and planning for the future; 

- Collaboration: working together with other partners to deliver objectives; 

- Involvement: involving those with an interest and seeking their views; 

- Prevention: putting resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse; 

- Integration: positively impacting on people, economy and environment and trying to 

benefit all three. 

 
The work undertaken by Local Planning Authority directly relates to promoting and ensuring 

sustainable development and seeks to strike a balance between the three areas: environment, 

economy and society.   

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 

functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its 

area.  Crime and fear of crime can be a material planning consideration.  This topic will be 

highlighted in the officer report where it forms a significant consideration for a proposal. 

Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 contains a public sector equality duty to integrate consideration of 

equality and good relations into the regular business of public authorities. The Act identifies a 

number of ‘protected characteristics’: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil 

partnership; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation.  Compliance is intended to 

result in better informed decision-making and policy development and services that are more 

effective for users. In exercising its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need to: 

eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct that is 

prohibited by the Act; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; and foster good relations between persons who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not. Due regard to advancing equality involves: 

removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 

differ from the needs of other people; and encouraging people from protected groups to 

participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

Children and Families (Wales) Measure 

Consultation on planning applications is open to all of our citizens regardless of their age: no 

targeted consultation takes place specifically aimed at children and young people.  Depending 

on the scale of the proposed development, applications are publicised via letters to 

neighbouring occupiers, site notices, press notices and/or social media. People replying to 

consultations are not required to provide their age or any other personal data, and therefore 

this data is not held or recorded in any way, and responses are not separated out by age. 

Climate Emergency 

In May 2019 Monmouthshire County Council declared a Climate Emergency with unanimous 

support from Councillors. The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Neighbourhood Services 

has been appointed as the member responsible for climate change and decarbonisation. 



Tackling climate change is very important, because if the planet’s temperature rises by 2°C 

there are risks of drought, flood and poverty, impacting on hundreds of millions of people. In 

Monmouthshire impacts that could happen include more extreme weather events (such as 

storms), water shortages, droughts, species loss and risk of flooding. Planning has a key role 

in addressing climate change through the promotion of sustainable development.  

The Council has formulated a draft action plan which will be subject to Member approval and 

will form the Council’s response to tackling this issue. Council decisions will need to take into 

account the agreed action plan.  



Protocol on Public Speaking at Planning Committee 
 
Public speaking at Planning Committee will be allowed strictly in accordance with this 
protocol. You cannot demand to speak at the Committee as of right. The invitation to speak 
and the conduct of the meeting is at the discretion of the Chair of the Planning Committee 
and subject to the points set out below. The conventional protocol has been modified to 
allow public speaking via pre-recorded videos. 

 
Who Can Speak 
Community and Town Councils 
Community and town councils can address Planning Committee via a pre-recorded video. 
Only elected members of community and town councils may speak. Representatives will 
be expected to uphold the following principles: - 

(i) To observe the National Code of Local Government Conduct. (ii) 
Not to introduce information that is not: 

 consistent with the written representations of their council, or 

 part of an application, or 

 contained in the planning report or file. 
When a town or community councillor has registered to speak in opposition to an application, 
the applicant or agent will be allowed the right of reply. 
 
Members of the Public 
Speaking will be limited to one member of the public opposing a development and one 
member of the public supporting a development. Where there is more than one person in 
opposition or support, the individuals or groups should work together to establish a 
spokesperson. The Chair of the Committee may exercise discretion to allow a second 
speaker, but only in exceptional cases where a major application generates divergent 
views  within  one  ‘side’ of  the  argument (e.g.  a  superstore application  where  one 
spokesperson represents  residents  and  another  local retailers).  Members of the public 
may appoint representatives to speak on their behalf. 
Where no agreement is reached, the right to speak shall fall to the first person/organisation 
to register their request. When an objector has registered to speak the applicant or agent 
will be allowed the right of reply. 
Speaking  will  be  limited  to  applications  where, by the deadline,  letters  of 
objection/support  or signatures on a petition have been submitted to the Council from 5 or 
more separate households/organisations (in this context organisations would not include 
community or town councils or statutory consultees which have their own method of 
ensuring an appropriate application is considered at Committee) The deadline referred to 
above is 5pm on the day six clear working days prior to the Committee meeting. This will 
normally be 5pm on the Friday six clear working days before the Tuesday Planning 
Committee meeting.  However, the deadline may be earlier, for example if there is a Bank 
Holiday Monday. 

 
The number of objectors and/or supporters will be clearly stated in the officer’s report for the 
application contained in the published agenda. 
 
The Chair may exercise discretion to allow speaking by members of the public where an 
application may significantly affect a sparse rural area but less than 5 letters of 
objection/support have been received. 



 

 

Applicants 

 

Applicants or their appointed agents will have a right of response where members of the public 
or a community/town council, have registered to address committee in opposition to an 
application. This will also be via a pre-recorded video. 

 
When is speaking permitted? 

Public speaking will normally only be permitted on one occasion where applications are 
considered by Planning Committee. When applications are deferred and particularly when re-
presented following a committee resolution to determine an application contrary to officer 
advice, public speaking will not normally be permitted. Regard will however be had to special 
circumstances on applications that may justify an exception. The final decision lies with the 
Chair. 

 
Registering Requests to Speak 
 
Speakers must register their request to speak as soon as possible, between 12 noon on the 
Tuesday and 12 noon on the Friday before the Committee. To register a request to speak, 
objectors/supporters must first have made written representations on the application. 
 
Anyone wishing to speak must notify the Council’s Democratic Services Officers of their request 
by calling 01633 644219 or by email to registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk. Please leave a 
daytime telephone number. Any requests to speak that are emailed through will be 
acknowledged prior to the deadline for registering to speak. If you do not receive an 
acknowledgement before the deadline please contact Democratic Services on 01633 644219 to 
check that your registration has been received. 
 
Parties are welcome to address the Planning Committee in English or Welsh, however if 
speakers wish to use the Welsh language they are requested to make this clear when 
registering to speak, and are asked to give at least 5 working days’ notice to allow the 
Council the time to procure a simultaneous translator. 

 
Applicants/agents and objectors/supporters are advised to stay in contact with the case officer 
regarding progress on the application. It is the responsibility of those wishing to speak to check 
when the application is to be considered by Planning Committee by contacting the Planning 
Office, which will be able to provide details of the likely date on which the application will be 
heard. The procedure for registering the request to speak is set out above. 
 
The Council will maintain a list of persons wishing to speak at Planning Committee. 

Once the request to speak has been registered by the Council the speaker must submit their pre-
recorded video by midday on Monday before the Committee meeting. The video content must 
comply with the terms below and be no more than 4 minutes in duration. If the third party does not 
wish to record a video they will need to submit a script to the Council by the deadline above, that 
will be read out by an officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. The script shall contain no 
more than 500 words and shall also comply with the terms below. 

 
Content of the Speeches 
Comments by the representative of the town/community council or objector, supporter or 
applicant/agent should be limited to matters raised in their original representations and be 
relevant planning issues. These include: 

 Relevant national and local planning policies 

 Appearance and character of the development, layout and density 

 Traffic generation, highway safety and parking/servicing; 

 Overshadowing, overlooking, noise disturbance, odours or other loss of amenity. 

 

mailto:registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk.


 

 

Speakers  should  avoid  referring  to  matters  outside  the  remit  of  the  Planning 
Committee, such as; 

 Boundary disputes, covenants and other property rights 

 Personal remarks (e.g. Applicant’s motives or actions to date or about members or 
officers) 

 Rights to views or devaluation of property. 
 
 

 
Procedure at the Planning Committee Meeting 
 
The procedure for dealing with public speaking is set out below: 
 

 The Chair will identify the application to be considered. 

 An officer will present a summary of the application and issues with the 
recommendation. 

 The local member if not on Planning Committee will be invited to speak for a 
maximum of 6 minutes by the Chair. 

 If applicable, the video recording of the representative of the community or town 
council will then be played to Members (this shall be no more than 4 minutes in 
duration). Alternatively, if the community or town council has opted to submit a 
script of their representations that will be read out by an officer to the Committee 
Members at the meeting. 

 If applicable, the objector’s video recording will then be played to the Members 
(this shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration) Alternatively, if a third party 
has opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an 
officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. 

 If applicable, the supporter’s video recording will then be played to Members (this 
shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration) Alternatively, if the third party has 
opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an officer 
to the Committee Members at the meeting. 

 If applicable, the applicant’s (or appointed agent’s) video recording will then be played 
to Members (this shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration). Alternatively, if the third 
party has opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an 
officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. 

 Where more than one person or organisation speaks against an application, the 
applicant or appointed agent, shall, at the discretion of the Chair, be entitled to submit 
a video of their response of up to 5 minutes in duration. 

o Time limits will normally be strictly adhered to, however the Chair will have 
discretion to amend the time having regard to the circumstances of the 
application or those speaking. 

o Speakers may speak only once. 
o Committee Members may then raise technical questions with officers. 
o  

 Planning Committee members will then debate the application, commencing with the 
local member if a Member of Planning Committee. Officers will not take any further 
questions unless it is to advise Members about a procedural or legal issue, or where 
they consider Members are deviating from material planning considerations. 

 Where an objector or supporter or applicant/agent community or town council has 
spoken on an application no further speaking by or on behalf of that group will be 
permitted in the event that the application is considered again at a future meeting of the 
Committee unless there has been a material change in the application. 

 The Chair’s decision regarding a procedural matter is final. 

 When proposing a motion either to accept the officer recommendation or to make an 
amendment the Member proposing the motion shall state the motion clearly. 

 When the motion has been seconded the Chair shall identify the Members who 



 

 

proposed and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed (including any 
additional conditions or other matters raised). The names of the proposer and seconder 
shall be recorded. 

  Members shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless they 
h a v e  been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that particular application. 

 Any Member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
their abstention. 

 The Legal Officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 

  

 When the motion has been seconded, the Chair shall identify the members who proposed 
and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed. The names of the proposer 
and seconder shall be recorded. 

 A member shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless he or she 
has been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that application. 

 Any member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
his/her abstention. 

 An officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor R. Edwards (Chairman) 
 

 County Councillors: J. Becker, L. Brown, A. Davies, A. Easson, 
D. Evans, R. Harris, J. Higginson, G. Howard, P. Jordan, P. Murphy, 
M. Powell, A. Webb and S. Woodhouse 
 
County Councillors L. Dymock and F. Taylor attended the meeting by 
invitation of the Chair. 
 

 
 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Craig O'Connor Head of Planning 
Philip Thomas Development Services Manager 
Andrew Jones Development Management Area Team Manager 
Mark Davies Highway Development Manager 
Denzil – John Turbervill Commercial Solicitor 
Richard Williams Democratic Services Officer 

 
APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillor M. Feakins. 
 
 

1. County Councillor Peter Clarke  
 
Before commencing proceedings the Chair, on behalf of the Planning Committee, paid 
tribute to the late County Councillor Peter Clarke who had recently passed away.  As a 
mark of respect, the Planning Committee held a minute’s silence. 
 
2. Declarations of Interest  

 
None received. 
 
3. Confirmation of Minutes  

 
The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting dated 7th December 2021 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 
4. Application DM/2019/01937 - Hybrid planning application - Outline planning 

application for up to 155 dwellings, associated open space and infrastructure 
with all matters excluding access reserved, of which full planning permission 
is sought for 72 dwellings, associated open space and infrastructure. Land at 
Vinegar Hill, Undy, Monmouthshire  

 
We considered the report of the application and late correspondence which was 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined in the report and subject to 
a Section 106 Legal Agreement. 
 
The local Member for The Elms attended the meeting by invitation of the Chair and 
outlined the following points: 
 

 Magor and Undy have been overdeveloped over the years with the infrastructure 
not being developed at the same rate. 

 

 The health and well-being of residents is important. Concern was expressed that 
local doctors’ surgeries and dentists will not cope with the increase in population 
from the proposed development. 
 

 Clarity was sought following an email from the local health board in February 
2020. It had been assumed that due to no objection, the surgery had adequate 
space to accommodate additional numbers of patients. 
 

 The local Member informed the Committee that the Environmental Health Officer 
had stated that the majority of the site would fall under TAN 11. 
 

 Noise issues should be taken into account when determining planning 
applications with conditions being imposed to ensure an adequate level of 
protection.  Planning permission should not be granted where it is considered 
that permission would be suited at a better quieter available location. 
 

 Conditions should be imposed to ensure a commensurate level of protection 
against noise. 
 

 The local Member asked whether there was evidence that there were no 
alternative sites that would be a more suitable location within the County and 
questioned whether the proposed site was the best site available given the 
constant noise and traffic pollution from the M4 motorway. 
 

 The loss of green space will significantly impact on Undy residents. Green space 
is important for residents’ health and well-being. There is no alternative usable 
green space in the area for residents. 
 

 The local Member expressed concern regarding the exit and entrance onto the 
B4245 from Dancing Hill.  The speed and volume of traffic has been a concern 
for Magor and Undy residents.  An additional 155 properties will significantly 

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

increase the number of vehicles travelling along this route.  The correct 
measures need to be installed to reduce the speed of vehicles along this route. 
 

 Concern was expressed regarding road safety issues at Vinegar Hill.  It was 
considered that a true reflection of residents’ views had not been undertaken 
regarding Vinegar Hill.  Further consultation should be considered regarding this 
matter. Most sections of the highway on Vinegar Hill are a single car width which 
can be dangerous for residents with sections of the highway having no footway.  
Heavy goods vehicles have become stuck blocking the road with some 
properties having been damaged by vehicles due to the narrowness of the road. 
 

 When an accident occurs on the B4245 or the M4 motorway, Magor and Undy 
become congested immediately with Vinegar Hill being used as a ‘rat run’. 
 

 Traffic cameras had been set up in April 2019 but there were issues regarding 
the date that this took place.   
 

 Undy School – complaints are being received from residents regarding vehicles 
parking on Penny Farthing Lane due to the congestion occurring around drop off 
and pick up times.  Off road parking is required to eliminate the parking issues. 
However, the congestion issue will be exacerbated if the proposed development 
is approved. 
 

 Public transport links for the area need to be addressed and improved. Walking 
and cycling need to be developed. 
 

 Refuse vehicles are struggling to negotiate the Greystone site. 
 

 Flooding has occurred in the area. 
 
The Member for Mill Ward (adjacent ward) also attended the meeting by invitation of the 
Chair and outlined the following points: 
 

 The conditions outlined in the report needed to be looked at in more detail. 
 

 The site is not part of the County Council’s Local Development Plan.  It is a new 
allocation made by the Planning Inspector.  The site has remained in abeyance 
for several years as it is a difficult site to develop. 
 

 The Member concurs with the local Member regarding the refuse collection 
problems on the site. The configuration of the site has made it difficult for refuse 
vehicles to access certain areas of the new sites. This had resulted in smaller 
vehicles having to be despatched to address missed collections. 
 

 Neither Grange Road nor the top of Dancing Hill are priority gritting routes. 
 

 There is a need for off-site highway improvement but there is no clarity on the 
type of improvements required. 

Page 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 

 Dancing Hill has been identified as having high speeding traffic due to its 
topography.  If the application is approved this will generate further high-speed 
traffic movements. 
 

 There will be 18 affordable homes but the layout is not compliant with 
Monmouthshire County Council’s Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG), as this requires pepper potting of the affordable properties.  All 
the affordable homes are located in the south west corner of the site but there 
should be clusters of no more than 6 to 15 units. 
 

 Surface water and drainage issues currently exist on the site.  However, Welsh 
Water has not agreed to a connection.  Only an agreement in principle is in 
place. 

 
Magor with Undy Community Council, had submitted a written statement outlining the 
community council’s objections to the application which was read to the Planning 
Committee by the Head of Planning, as follows: 
 
‘The proposal to partially close off the northern end of Vinegar Hill, and allow access 
through the new development onto Vinegar Hill could be a huge H&S risk, with the 
potential for it to become a ‘rat-run’ to the B4245. Planning Inspectorate described 
Vinegar Hill: ‘narrow tortuous road – with no footways and a combination of restricted 
visibility, substandard accesses and volume of traffic giving rise to potential hazardous 
conditions for road uses’ and refused an access point (DC/1997/00237). Planning has 
continued to allow in-fill along Vinegar Hill increasing traffic, despite it being a ‘Safe 
Routes to School’.  
 
Access to the development is via Grange Road. What plans are in place for construction 
traffic to mitigate accident/congestion on Grange Road, particularly at the narrow corner 
adjacent to Hillcrest? Dancing Hill is also very busy, feeding the existing estate.  
 
Council presume that the proposed road that will connect the new development with 
Rockfield and the B4245 is to replace the ‘bypass’ planned for the area in excess of 30 
years. Developers should be tasked with putting in this link/bypass road first to mitigate 
congestion on Vinegar Hill/Grange Road and Dancing Hill by construction traffic.  
 
Drainage/SUDS at the new Greystone Meadows (Rockfield) is totally insufficient, with 
MUCC in talking to Matt Jeffes Flood Risk Engineer for Monmouthshire County Council. 
Attenuation ponds cannot cope with the run-off, causing flooding to adjacent allotments, 
and raising Manholes on the B4245 and site. 
 
SUDS/drainage for the Vinegar Hill development must be more robust, and ‘over the 
top’. Run-off from Grange Road and Vinegar Hill crest causes regular flooding on the 
lane at Gurn Hill Lodge – with soak-away drains inadequate. Two fields east of Vinegar 
Hill (phase two of the Vinegar Hill development) have deep seasonal flooding with run-
off from Knollbury/Vinegar Hill/Gurn Hill. 
 

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

Monmouthshire County Council needs to ensure that SUDs/drainage proposals are 
robust and conditions are met to mitigate flooding.  
 
Magor/Undy had problems connecting to the public sewer (with installation of private 
cesspits becoming the ‘norm’) because of capacity problems, despite a new rising main 
installation.  
 
On the proposal to connect to the existing sewer system Dwr Cymru concluded it is 
unlikely to have sufficient capacity to accommodate the development without having a 
detriment to existing services. This must be resolved - the community cannot endure the 
problem of overloaded sewers again.  
 
Is the developer providing children’s play facilities? Is it covered by s.106 agreement 
that includes a contribution to community facilities? The Community Council provides 
the area’s largest children’s parks and would welcome funding to update/refurbish them.  
 
Council note proposals to plant trees/small orchard areas and to maintain existing 
hedgerows.  
 
It should be a condition that the developer plant only non-invasive native species which 
provide cover and food for birds, mammals.  
 
The west/east green corridor is a flight path for bats, hunting raptors and barn owls. No 
allowance has been made for bats, nesting birds i.e. house martin nest cups or artificial 
nests for cavity nesting birds i.e. house-sparrows.  
 
The Community Council’s believes that conditions can be put in place by the authority to 
mitigate some concerns/problems but with a programme of checks to ensure that 
planning and the conditions are adhered to.’ 
 
Ms. K. Coventry, the applicant’s agent, had prepared a video recording which was 
presented to Planning Committee and the following points were outlined: 
 

 The report outlines comprehensively why the application should be approved. 
 

 The site is allocated within the County Council’s adopted Local Development 
Plan. 
 

 It is located adjacent to the established built up urban area of Magor and Undy 
and connects the approved housing allocation of Rockfield Farm. 
 

 Grant funding has been received from the Cardiff Capital Region in light of the 
viability matters on site. 
 

 The scheme aims to deliver up to 155 homes across the two parcels of land 
divided by Vinegar Hill. 
 

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 The application site does not extend over the entirety of the allocation.  The 
scheme design ensures that it does not prejudice this area of land should it come 
forward in the future. 
 

 The scheme, via the grant funding, is able to deliver 25% affordable housing on 
site and will aid in the shortfall across the County. 
 

 There has already been a pre-application enquiry undertaken for the detailed 
design of Parcel B and it is considered that an application will be submitted on 
receipt of the planning permission. 
 

 Through consultation with the County Council the scheme has evolved into one 
designed around green infrastructure including two key corridors running north to 
south and east to west across the two parcels of land. The site delivers a net 
biodiversity gain overall. 
 

 There is a net gain in hedgerows across the site with the delivery of the 
community orchard and public open space. 
 

 A scheme has been designed to provide safe travel across the local highway 
network and prevent inappropriate levels of traffic on unsuitable roads. 
 

 In July 2021, a new scheme was submitted which closes the top of Vinegar Hill 
with some access remaining to the south. This design still enables the east to 
west link road to connect from Rockfield Farm through this site and onto Grange 
Road, as required through policy. 
 

 This scheme is the most practical and sustainable solution which also provides 
emergency access. 
 

 Drainage officers have confirmed that the scheme has an appropriate drainage 
strategy. 
 

 This is the last remaining strategic allocation in the County Council’s adopted 
Local Development Plan.  It accords with both national and local policy. 
 

 The scheme will provide an important contribution to both market and affordable 
housing numbers and is not subject to the constraints experienced elsewhere in 
the County. 
 

 The developer is keen to deliver this site as soon as possible. 
 

 The applicant’s agent asked the Committee to consider approval of the 
application. 
 

The Development Services Manager responded as follows: 
 

 Conditions have been put in place to avoid any unacceptable noise impacts. 

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 

 High levels of insulation can be secured, as well as upgraded acoustic glazing 
and mechanical ventilation whereby windows would be non-opening facing 
out towards the north and the motorway. This would allow the plots to achieve 
acceptable internal noise levels. The gardens would be located at the rear of 
these properties. 

 

 The loss of green space is implicit in terms of the allocation of the site. 
However, across the site there is green infrastructure and public open space 
provision which is multifunctional in providing surface water drainage 
measures, the trim trail and the community orchard, as examples. 

 
The Head of Planning responded as follows: 
 

 Local GPs have been consulted on the application with no objections or 
concerns being raised regarding the developments. 

 

 This is an allocated site within the Local Development Plan (LDP). As part of 
that process consultation would have been undertaken with the local Health 
Board to allow capacity to be built into its models. 

 

 With regard to the replacement LDP, the local Authority is working with 
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board (ABUHB) to create a formula to 
address contributions in relation to health infrastructure. 

 

 This development is one of the first large scale developments to go through 
the Surface Water Drainage legislation.  A sustainable drainage application 
has been submitted to the Drainage Board and is compliant with the 
requirements. 

 

 Parcel A complies with Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG) whereby there are 12 units located within the south west 
corner of the site and a further six units located within the central location of 
the site. 

 

 There is an east to west link which has been designed to the correct 
standards.  It is anticipated that a bus service will be able to access this route 
in the future and that refuse vehicles will also be able to access this highway 
link. 

 
The Highways Officer responded as follows: 
 

 This is an allocated site and extensive assessments were undertaken in 
order to put it forward as a candidate site. 

 

 The assessments identified that no mitigation was required for this 
development on the local network and specific junctions on the B4245. 

 

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 The Highway Authority considers that the proposed development will cause 
no material harm in terms of safety and capacity on the network. 

 

 20mph speed limits are to be rolled out across the County and the region. 
 

 All internal layouts of the proposed development accord with current design 
criteria which is Manual for Streets. 

 
Having considered the report of the application and the views expressed the following 
points were noted: 
 

 Vinegar Hill is not being closed to through traffic.  Eventually, it will be linked 
into the estate road and the future east-west link road. When the 
development is completed, at some point in the future, the northern section of 
Vinegar Hill will be closed to traffic and will be turned into a green way for use 
by pedestrians and cyclists. 
 

 There is no direct policy in the LDP for the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points on the development.  However, this is being looked at within 
the replacement LDP. Discussions have been held with the developer 
regarding the provision of charging points and the developer has agreed to 
put in the cabling and infrastructure for a three point plug on 85% of the plots 
on Parcel A of the site.  This could be delivered via condition should the 
application be approved. 

 

 In response to questions raised regarding biodiversity and GI Infrastructure, it 
was noted that concerns had been raised regarding seasonal flooding in the 
attenuation pond in Parcel A.  It was noted that this is a modern design and 
provides green open space in terms of surface water drainage.  It is a multi-
functional area of land. 

 

 A Green Infrastructure Management Plan has been established to maintain 
green infrastructure on the site. The site has been designed with significant 
tree planting located within the streets, the provision of a trim trail and a 
public open space within the south east of the site. 

 

 The layout of the affordable housing provision in the south east of the site 
provides benefits in terms of how the properties are managed.  25% of the 
site will be affordable housing provision. 

 

 The area of the site on Grange Road is close to the motorway. A Member 
suggested providing acoustic fencing at the top of the site to help reduce 
noise levels from the motorway. The area to the north was not originally a 
part of the LDP, providing scope for the extra measures of acoustic fencing to 
be considered in zone C via conditions. It was also suggested that conditions 
be added to accommodate electric charging points for Parcels A and B.  In 
response, the Head of Planning informed the Committee that the Developer 
had looked at providing electric charging points across the whole of the site 

Page 8



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

(Parcels A&B).  Therefore, a condition could be added requesting a plan to 
indicate details of electric charging facilities for the site prior to 
commencement of work on the development. 

 

 In terms of noise pollution, the Head of Planning informed the Committee that 
there are conditions regarding the upgrading of the glazing and the 
ventilation of the properties to the north of the site. Regarding the area of the 
site outside of the LDP, Environmental Health has looked at this development 
proposal and suggested conditions 16 and 17 to ensure that there are higher 
standards for the plots at the top of the site. 

 

 The traffic survey had been undertaken in April 2019 outside of school term 
time and on a Saturday, which did not take into account traffic levels from an 
average working day. 

 

 In response to a query regarding developments and infrastructure 
requirements for the area, the Head of Planning informed the Committee that 
the Planning Authority had consulted with Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board and GPs to obtain their opinion in respect of the development 
proposal.  The numbers of people waiting for affordable housing are already 
located within the area.  Conversations will continue with the local Health 
Board regarding the additional homes in the area and the impact that this 
might have for health infrastructure going forward.  This scheme is providing 
a number of financial contributions towards community facilities such as 
community services, public open space and educational contributions in 
terms of school capacity with a view to ensuring that the development is 
sustainable. 

 

 A Member expressed concern and considered that the development would 
be inappropriate for the site under the Future Well-being of Generations Act, 
as it was considered that it does not benefit the health of the local 
community. 

 
The Development Services Manager informed the Committee: 
 

 There will be acoustic screening along the frontage of the site with Grange 
Road with considerable planting being undertaken. 

 

 The periphery of the development will have public maintenance areas which 
will be managed by the Council or a management company via the green 
infrastructure management plan. 

 
The local Member summed up as follows: 
 

 Concern was expressed that the proposed development will not provide good 
quality housing on this site. 

 

Page 9



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

 The glazing might provide some noise mitigation but only when inside a 
property. 

 

 The 25% affordable housing provision is a positive. However, the local 
Member expressed concern that these properties were not being adequately 
distributed across the site. 

 

 The local Member supports the provision of electrical charging points. 
 

 Concern was expressed regarding the lack of access to GP facilities in the 
area and that further development within the area would exacerbate this 
situation. 

 

 It was considered that the development does not enhance the well-being of 
future generations. 

 
It was proposed by County Councillor L. Brown and seconded by County Councillor A. 
Easson that application DM/2019/01937 be approved subject to the conditions outlined 
in the report and subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement. Also, that the following 
additional condition be added: 
 

 No development shall commence until details of acoustic fencing have been 
agreed with the local Planning Authority along the northern boundary of the site 
and shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to any 
occupation of the dwellings. 

 
Upon being put to the vote the following votes were recorded: 
 
In favour of the proposal  - 5 
Against the proposal  - 9 
Abstentions    - 0 
 
The proposition was not carried. 
 
It was proposed by County Councillor P. Murphy and seconded by County Councillor J. 
Higginson that application DM/2019/01937 be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report and subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement. Also, that the 
following additional condition be added: 
 

 To secure electric charging points on the site. 
 
In favour of the proposal  - 14 
Against the proposal  - 0 
Abstentions    - 0 
 
The proposition was carried. 
 

Page 10



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee 
 County Hall, Usk - Remote Attendance 

 Wednesday, 12th January, 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

We resolved that application DM/2019/01937 be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report and subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement. Also, that the 
following additional condition be added: 
 

 To secure electric charging points on the site. 
 
 

5. Application DM/2021/01376 - Proposed two storey rear extension with 
associated works. 2 Cae Capel, Great Oak, Bryngwyn, Usk  

 

We considered the report of the application and late correspondence which was 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined in the report. 
 
In noting the detail of the application, the following point was identified: 
 

 In response to comments made regarding the loss of amenity impacting on the 
neighbouring property, the Development Management Area Manager informed 
the Committee that the application has been looked at on its own merits and it is 
acknowledged that there will be some degree of impact but the mitigating 
circumstances in terms of the distance from the boundary and the north facing 
orientation, on balance, indicates that there is insufficient grounds to recommend 
refusal. 

 
It was proposed by County Councillor G. Howard and seconded by County Councillor P. 
Murphy that application DM/2021/01376 be approved subject to the conditions outlined 
in the report. 
 
Upon being put to the vote the following votes were recorded: 
 
For approval   - 13 
Against approval  - 0 
Abstentions   - 1 
 
The proposition was carried. 
 
We resolved that application DM/2021/01376 be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.27 pm.  
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Application 
Number: 

DM/2021/01277 

 

Proposal: Retention of existing 100-seater stand. Proposed 100 seated stand, proposed 50 
seated stand and extension to car park. 

 
Address: Chepstow Town AFC, Larkfield Park, Chepstow, NP16 5PR 

 
Applicant: Mr Ray Edinborough 

 
Plans: Site Plan MH-8719A - Rev A, Site Layout MH-8720A - Rev A, Site Plan MH-8721B 

- Rev B proposed Site Plan, All Proposed Plans MH-8722B - Rev B Proposed 
Layout, Other Car Park Management Plan - Version 2 03/11/21 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

 
Case Officer: Kate Young  
Date Valid: 27.07.2021 

 
This application is presented to Planning Committee due to the number of objections 
received from local residents exceeding four 

 
1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

 
1.1 Site Description 

 

Chepstow Football Club is an established club which is located between Larkfield Park and Beech 
Grove, in the High Beech Area of Chepstow. The land is within the town’s Development Boundary 
and has been designated as an Area of Amenity Importance in the LDP. The site contains an 
existing club house, parking area, football pitch, training area, one 100-seater stand and floodlights. 
The existing car park has capacity for approximately 26 vehicles. There are mature trees on the 
north, east and part of the southern boundary of the site. The site includes areas of additional green 
space and is surrounded by existing residential development on three sides with some commercial 
uses adjacent to Larkfield Garage to the north-west of the site. There is one tree that is subject to 
a Tree Preservation Order on the south-west corner of the playing fields. 

 
1.2 Value Added 

 
Following negotiations between planning officers and the football club, the size of the car park has 
been increased and a parking management plan has been submitted. All interested parties were re-
consulted on the amendments on the 05/11/21. 

 
1.3 Proposal Description 

 
In order to meet with the Football Association of Wales criteria for Level 2 the club requires stands 
that are able to seat 250 spectators as a minimum. The application seeks two new stands and also 
retrospective permission for the existing 100-seater stand. The stands will be constructed in 
standard box sheeting coloured Ocean Blue, the seats would be of blue and white plastic. The 50-
seater stand will be adjacent to the existing stand and would measure 2.83m in depth and 9m long. 
The existing 100-seater stand is 13.8 meters long and 2.83m in depth. The new 100-seater stand 
would be on the north-west side of the pitch and would also measure 2.83m in depth and 13.8m in 
length. All of the stands would have a mono-pitched roof with a maximum height of 3m. The 
application also seeks the relocation of the timber fence around the car park which will increase the 
capacity of the car park by 11 car parking spaces. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5a



2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (if any) 

 

Reference 
Number 

Description Decision Decision Date 

 

DM/2021/01277 Existing 100-seater stand. Proposed 
100 seated stand, proposed 50 
seated stand and extension to car 
park. 

Pending 
Determination 

 

DC/2002/01191 Extension To Clubroom To 
Incorporate Pool & Darts Area 

Approved 23.01.2003 

 
 

 

DC/1996/00691 New Changing Rooms. Approved 12.03.1997 
 
 
 

 

DC/1994/00128 Retention Of A Portacabin For 
Meeting Place. 

Approved 04.05.1994 

 

3.0 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 

Strategic Policies 

S5 LDP Community and Recreation Facilities 
S13 LDP Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
S16 LDP Transport 
S12 LDP Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
S17 LDP Place Making and Design 

 
Development Management Policies 

 
CRF1 LDP Retention of Existing Community Facilities 
CRF2 LDP Outdoor Recreation/Public Open Space/Allotment Standards and Provision 
DES1 LDP General Design Considerations 
DES2 LDP Areas of Amenity Importance 
NE1 LDP Nature Conservation and Development 
LC5 LDP Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Character 
EP1 LDP Amenity and Environmental Protection 
MV1 LDP Proposed Developments and Highway Considerations 
SD4 LDP Sustainable Drainage 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 
Monmouthshire Parking Standards (January 2013) 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan- 
2013.pdf 

Page 14

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan-


4.0 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

Future Wales - the national plan 2040 

Future Wales is the national development framework, setting the direction for development in Wales 
to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the 
planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 
decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health 
and well-being of our communities. Future Wales - the national plan 2040 is the national 
development framework and it is the highest tier plan, setting the direction for development in Wales 
to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a regional level 
and Local Development Plans. Planning decisions at every level of the planning system in Wales 
must be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 

 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11 

 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the delivery 
of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-
being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation and resultant 
duties such as the Socio-economic Duty. 

 
A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and achieving 
sustainable places. PPW promotes action at all levels of the planning process which is conducive 
to maximising its contribution to the well-being of Wales and its communities. 

 
5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 

 
5.1 Consultation Replies 

 

Chepstow Town Council recommends approval but still has reservations over the provision of 
parking. 

 
MCC Highways (18/11/21) - No objection 
The highway authority welcomes the applicant's submission of a car park management plan and 
amended plans detailing an increase in car parking provision. The highway authority therefore 
removes the former objection relating to the provision of parking and therefore does no object to the 
application. 

 
MCC Highways (07/09/21) - Concerns 
The proposal does accord with the adopted parking standards; however, the highway authority has 
concerns regarding the parking stress experienced on the immediate residential streets. These 
surrounding streets do not have any specific parking control, and it is not considered sufficient 
grounds to object to the proposal. Management of these streets would require specific traffic 
regulation orders. It is therefore suggested that the police are consulted regarding the potential for 
increased congestion and parking nuisance. It is also suggested that a parking plan be submitted to 
help manage any parking nuisance. 

 
MCC GI and Landscape - No objections 
The structures are akin to the existing stand and do not propose obtrusive works to the grounds or 
result in a loss of significant green space to accommodate them. There is little impact to the existing 
TPO 102/G4 which remains protected. The limited loss in green space and water managed into a 
soakaway means that the development will not have a detrimental impact on the wider landscape. 
A clear root protection zone would be required during construction. 
Concerns were raised regarding provision for less abled spectators, and advice provided in relation 
to SuDS opportunities and/or green roofs to the stands. 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority and SuDS Approval Body 

The proposed site layout and drainage system will impact runoff from the site. The application 
includes no drainage information or ground testing. If the total construction area is above 100m2 
then SAB approval will be required prior to works commencing on site. If the site is below 100m2 
total construction area a condition will be needed. 
During construction the applicant will need to ensure that there are no increases in run-off or silt 

Page 15



washing into local watercourses. This can be managed by constructing the drainage system first 
and ensuring silt management measures are in place. 
 
(for clarity SUDS approval is required for the proposals)  

 
MCC Building Control - No Comments. 

 
5.2 Neighbour Notification 

 
A number of objections have been received in relation to the application and a smaller number of 
letters in support. A number of these objections do not relate to valid planning considerations; 
however they are summarised below for completeness. 

 
Letters of objection received after consultation from four addresses 

 
The stands will not be used, they might be a requirement of the FAW however they seem 
unnecessary for the club’s needs. The 100-seater stand should be 50-seater and should not 
extend beyond the changing room building. 

 
Insufficient parking for the increase in demand, the proposed increase in parking is not sufficient 
and the parking management plan will not alleviate problems, parking will be pushed to adjacent 
streets. The anti-social and dangerous parking issues are on training nights as well as match 
nights. Reference is made to turning left into Larkfield from the A48 is extremely dangerous on a 
match or training day due to the number of cars parked right up to the junction. Traffic will back 
up around surrounding roads. 

 
Previous traffic management arrangements have not worked. 

An emergency vehicle would struggle to access the grounds. 

Visual impact on neighbouring properties, harming outlook and value of properties. There are 
alternative, more suitable locations. There is not the capacity for 250 people here. 

 
The stands have a detrimental impact on the properties behind it all year round. 

 
There will be an increase in noise and anti-social behaviour, litter and damage from patrons at the 
club house at night. In addition, other activities at the club cause theft and littering. 

 
Consideration must be given to the safety of residents but also that of spectators and others using 
the facility. Improvements to the boundary fence are required. 

 
That residents were not informed of the application. 

The stand will harm existing trees, especially conifers. 

Volunteers with no legal powers, putting out cones will not resolve the issue and may stop 
residents from parking outside their own properties. 

 
Resident only parking is the only solution. 

Three letters of support: 

Great facility for young people (male and female) in Chepstow and surrounding areas. Great to 
support young people and to get them involved and somewhere to belong and a safe environment 
for sport. 

 
5.3 Local Member Representations 

 
Councillor Paul Pavia - Support for the club and its role. 
The increased parking and traffic management plan is welcome and does strengthen the application. 
One of the public comments I have seen recently does raise the concern about volunteers managing 
this on their own without additional support from statutory agencies. I would like to see how this 
works in 
practice but to have regular review points through the season to see if things need to be 

Page 16



altered/amended. This needs to happen whether or not the club does achieve promotion because 
current traffic/parking problems do continue to cause a challenge locally in that area. 
I note the comments made by colleagues in MCC Highways to the amended application: 
Whether the football club would be able to amend the plan at this stage and get that buy-in from 
police I don't know. However, it is something that must be properly examined and acted upon 
because it will 
improve resident buy-in to this development. The football club must continue to demonstrate that it 
is a good neighbour and look to fully understand and mitigate any match-day impact on residents. 
The relocation of the 100-seater stand closer to the existing 100 seater stand was requested as this 
would mitigate some concerns of the neighbours. This should be explored. 
Other issues arise around anti-social behaviour, whilst not materially relevant to the application, are 
something that should be managed comprehensively as a matter of course. 

 
Please note all representations can be read in full on the Council's website: 
https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN 

 
6.0 EVALUATION 

 
6.1 Principle of Development 

 
6.1.1 Policy S5 of the Monmouthshire LDP states that development proposals that provide and/or 
enhance community and recreation facilities will be permitted within or adjoining town and village 
development boundaries subject to detailed planning considerations. The principle of a new stand 
on the existing football pitch within the development boundary is acceptable in policy terms. In this 
case the material planning considerations are the visual impact of the stand, impact on neighbour 
amenity, parking provision and ecology. Policy CRF1 of the LDP seeks the retention of existing 
community facilities and Policy CRF3 looks at safeguarding existing recreational facilities. 

 
6.2 Sustainability 

 

6.2.1 The application relates to an existing football club and seeks to increase the number of 
stands that are available for spectators. The planning application seeks to install two new covered 
spectator stands, one with 100 seats and one with 50 seats and retrospective permission for the 
existing 100 seat covered stand. The new stands are required to meet the Football Association of 
Wales (FAW) facility requirements to compete in Tier 2 of the Welsh amateur football pyramid. The 
club currently competes in Tier 3. There is no indication that if the club was to be promoted, that 
this would result in more spectators attending the games. The provision of covered seating provides 
the current spectators somewhere to sit; it does not directly follow that the new seating will attract 
more spectators or visitors as the grounds can accommodate these spectators in standing areas at 
present. There is no correlation between the provision of the new stands and the number of 
spectators likely to attend matches at the site in the foreseeable future. There is only one football 
pitch on the site and one training area, the number of pitches will not increase so that only one 
match can be played at any one time. 

 
For existing spectators Chepstow is serviced by a suitable bus service and train provision. As a 
'Main Town' Chepstow is considered to be a sustainable location for such recreational provision. 

 
Good Design 

 
6.2.2 The size of the stands is determined by FAW league requirements. There is a Council-wide 
policy to develop and promote sport facilities. The use of box steel sheeting is appropriate for this 
type of development and has been used on other sports facilities across the County including 
Goytre, Undy and Caldicot football club stands. The design of the stands is determined by their 
function and considered acceptable in this location, which is a standard design and form. The 
stands will provide 4 tiers of seating facing towards the pitch and away from the surrounding 
residential properties. The design and finishing materials of the proposed structures would be in 
keeping with the general character of this football ground and would not be incongruous in this 
location. The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of Policy DES1 of the LDP in terms of 
providing high quality sustainable design. 

 
Place Making 

 
6.2.3 The proposed stands will be sited within the existing football ground, close to the existing 
club house. They will not be visually prominent when viewed from outside the site. It has been 

Page 17

https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


suggested that the position of the two new stands be reversed with the new 100-seater stand going 
next to the existing stand and the 50-seater stand being located at the northern side, closer to the 
changing rooms. The club has functional reasons why this would not work including the need to 
separate the home and away fans. PPW 11 says that good design is fundamental to creating 
sustainable places where people want to live, work and socialise. The special character of an area 
should be central to its design. In this case the provision of two new stands will enhance the facilities 
of the ground and provide a greater sense of place for users of the club. The form, scale and visual 
appearance of the proposed stands would engage with their surroundings. The design is 
acceptable and complies with the objectives of Policy DES1 of the LDP and PPW11 in promoting 
good design. 

 
Area of Amenity Importance 

 
6.2.4 The site has been designated as an Area of Amenity Importance under LDP Policy DES2. 
Development proposals on areas of amenity importance will only be permitted if there is no 
unacceptable adverse effect on the visual and environmental amenity, contribution to character, 
amenity use, cultural amenity values and nature conservation interests. The proposed stands will 
not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the wider landscape, they will 
contribute to the character of the area and improve the facilities for users of the club. Nature 
conservation interests can be enhanced. The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of 
Policy DES2 of the LDP as it will have no unacceptable, adverse effect on the designated area of 
amenity importance. 

 
6.3 Landscape 

 
6.3.1 The Council’s Landscape and GI Officer has reviewed the application and offered no 
objection. The Landscape Officer initially raised concerns regarding inclusive access for all 
spectators. Adjacent to the club house there is a raised patio area facing the pitch that can be used 
by spectators that have limited mobility. 

There appears to be no impact on the existing beech tree covered by TPO GWT:102/G4. There will 
be a small loss of existing amenity grass to accommodate new stands and an increase in surface 
water collection proposed to go to soakaway, however this is not considered harmful. The proposals 
are acceptable in landscape terms. 

 
6.4 Impact on Amenity 

 
6.4.1 The land is already used as a football pitch for the existing club. The introduction of the 
stands should not in itself result in an increase in the numbers of people attending the games, rather 
it will provide current standing spectators with covered seating provision. The new 50-seater stand 
will be located to the north of the existing 100-seater stand between the existing stand and the club 
house on the north-eastern edge of the pitch. The new 100-seater stand will be located to the north-
west of the pitch. 

 
6.4.2 Larkfield Park is to the north-east with properties facing towards the application site. The 
closest property, 21 Larkfield Park (at its closest point) is 21m away from the existing stand and will 
be 28m away from the proposed 50-seater stand. 20 Larkfield Park is 25m from the existing stand 
and will be 27m away from the proposed 50-seater stand. 19 Larkfield Park is side onto the pitch 
and from the rear elevation the existing stand is 28m away and the proposed 50-seater stand will 
be 27m away. Larkfield Park is separated from the football ground by a mature hedge/tree buffer 
formed along the edge of the grounds, the existing road and each property’s own boundary 
treatments. The extension of the car park in a southerly direction will result in the loss of some 
vegetation but this is not considered to be excessive, all other boundary treatments are to remain 
as existing. The stands would be visible from the first-floor windows of these properties, but given 
the distances involved, the intervening road and the existing vegetation this is not considered to be 
visually prominent or overbearing. The visual impact of these stands is not considered harmful to 
the existing properties. 

 
6.4.3 To the north-west boundary, the side elevation of the former Countrywide stores forms a 
hard boundary to 50% of this boundary. Seven properties are adjacent to the boundary at the 
northernmost corner, closest to the clubhouse. These are grouped as 32, 33, 34 and 28, 29, 30, 31 
Larkfield Park. The new 100-seater stand is proposed to the northern edge of the pitch; this will be 
35m to the rear of 34, 36.5m from 33 and 37m from 32 Larkfield Park. The stand will be 33m from 
the rear of 28 and 45m from the rear of 31 Larkfield Park. The existing club house obscures views 
of the stand from the group of four properties, 28-31 Larkfield Park. Given the small scale of the 

Page 18



stand and the intervening distance involved, the proposal would not result in any loss of outlook. 

 
6.4.4 The distance of the proposed stands from neighbouring residential properties combined with 
their low height means that the residential amenity of nearby residents will not be compromised. In 
addition, the stands are facing towards the pitch and away from the houses which will help to 
contain any noise from spectators. As discussed, the club is operational and spectators are using 
the areas around the pitch, the proposals provide seating provision for current spectators. The 
proposal therefore accords with the objectives of LDP Policy EP1 as it does have regard to the 
privacy, amenity and health of occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

 
6.5 Highways 

 
Sustainable Transport Hierarchy 

 

6.5.1 PPW11 refers to the Sustainable Transport Hierarchy where walking and cycling are the 
highest priority and public transport second with private motor vehicles being the least desirable. In 
this case the site is located in the built-up area of the town within easy walking distance of all the 
amenities and facilities in the Town Centre. The site is also within easy walking distance of good 
public transport links including the bus and railway stations. As stated above, the erection of 
spectator stands at the club will not necessarily increase the numbers of players, officials or 
spectators visiting the site. The number of pitches is not increasing. It could be argued that if the 
club was to be promoted to a higher tier, they would be playing teams from further away, and that 
these visiting players and fans are more likely to car share, than if they were from the local area. 
Most visiting teams transport their players to games using a 17-seat minibus and on match days 
there is a designated parking space for this vehicle in the car park. 

 
Access / Highway Safety 

 
6.5.2 Chepstow AFC is located on playing fields, south of the A48, Newport Road. The 
clubhouse, car park and playing field are accessed via a double field gate dive of Larkfield Park, a 
residential street serving approximately 65 houses and flats. The area is well served with an array 
of footways and link footpaths providing links to other residential streets and the wider community. 
The access into the site is not being altered. 

 
Parking 

 
6.5.3 The existing car park as laid out provides parking for approximately 26 cars. The Parking 
Management Plan submitted on behalf of the football club outlines that an additional 11 car parking 
spaces are to be provided by expanding the car park in a southerly direction, within the grounds of 
the club. Chepstow Town AFC is well-established at this site and the highway authority 
acknowledge that the adjacent residential street experiences on-street parking stress during match 
days and other large events at the ground. The club has limited off street parking provision and no 
public car parks are located within reasonable walking distance of the ground. 

6.5.4 In accordance with the Council’s adopted parking standard the car parking provision is; 

Stadia 1 commercial vehicle space & 1 space per 15 seats - 

o In addition to the operational parking requirements for servicing purposes, sufficient 
additional space must always be provided to allow servicing vehicles to both enter and leave 
the curtilage of the premises' servicing area in a forward gear. 

o Appropriate provision must be provided for use by disabled people. 
 
6.5.5 In accordance with the Council’s adopted parking standards the number of spaces required 
to accommodate 250 seats is 17 spaces, while the existing car park accommodate 26 spaces and 
so is more than adequate to accommodate the required number of vehicles and operational 
requirements. Two disabled parking spaces are provided within the existing car park. 

 
6.5.6 The highway authority raised concerns regarding the parking stress experienced on the 
immediate residential streets. These streets are public highways and the highway authority has not 
set any specific traffic regulation orders within these streets for parking in general or to control 
obstructive and dangerous parking. Given the current use of the site there were not considered to   
be sufficient grounds to object to the proposal, but it was recommended that the police were 
consulted regarding the proposal and the potential for increased congestion and obstructive parking. 

Page 19



It was also suggested that the applicant consider the development and introduction of a traffic and 
car parking plan in conjunction with the local police and Council to manage and limit the car parking 
on the adjacent residential streets. Gwent Police have been consulted on this application and the 
traffic management plan but have yet to respond. 

 

6.5.7 The Football Club has produced a Match Day Car Parking Management Plan which states: 

“Car Park Management Plan: Increase of on-site parking provision by an additional 11 spaces. The 

inclusion and layout of these additional spaces are shown on Plan Ref: MH-8721 rev B. 

On future match days, the club will have on duty two car parking stewards to manage access to the 
car park and to control parking in the local area. This will be achieved using a 1.2m-high crowd 
control barrier at the car park entrance and no-parking cones on the surrounding residential roads, 
principally Larkfield Park and Larkfield Grove but also Gwentlands Close if this is found to be 
necessary. 
In addition to these on-site measures, we will write to opposing teams in advance of each fixture, 
advising them to limit the number of cars used by visiting players and spectators and not to park in 
the adjoining residential roads. We will also advise them of other public car parking spaces within 
the town. 
If a situation arises where there is obvious demand for on-site parking and there are limited spaces 
available, the car parking stewards will advise motorists to park their cars at the Chepstow 
Comprehensive School/Leisure Centre site in Welsh Street and share one car that will then be 
allocated a parking space in the club car park on their return to site. 
The stewards will also have in their possession on match days a plan showing the position of the 
public car parks in the town - at Bank Street, Nelson Street, Station Road and Bulwark Road. 
In addition, there are some limited on-street car parking spaces available in proximity to the ground 
- at the A466 Wye Valley Link Road and in Mathern Road adjacent to Chepstow Cemetery, both of 
which are within a five-minute walk from the ground. 
In terms of future proofing and responding to the climate change agenda, it is anticipated that over 
the next few years there will be a significant proportion of the population that will own and use 
electric vehicles. There is a 50kw electric charging point located in the car park of the Two Rivers 
Hotel, available for public use, which is less 
than a three-minute walk from the club's premises. 
Note 
This car park plan will be managed by club officials and volunteers - the club and its members have 
no legal powers to enforce any measures contained in the plan that relate to car parking controls on 
local roads. This is the responsibility of the County Council in its capacity as local highway authority. 
However, the club wishes to be a "good neighbour" and to avoid wherever possible any tensions 
caused by on-street parking in the local area close to the club's premises, so it will make every 
endeavour to control car parking in the vicinity of the ground.” 

 
6.5.8 The Highway Authority welcome the provisions set out in the Parking Management Plan. 
Although the provision of spectator stands within the grounds will not necessarily lead to an 
increase in spectators visiting the site on match days, the management plan will help to improve the 
current situation. 

 
6.6 Biodiversity 

 
6.6.1 The Protected Tree on the site is over 130m away from the siting of the proposed stands. 
There will be no development close to the tree, so the tree which is the subject of the preservation 
order will not be affected. There will be some loss of grassland, where the stands are to be placed, 
but this grassland is pitch side and not of ecological interest. The loss is very small compared to the 
size of the whole football ground and therefore not significant. The applicant will provide biodiversity 
enhancements in the form of an open bird nest box on the gable wall of the club house and a bat 
box situated 4 metres off the ground within an existing mature beech tree. These enhancements 
are appropriate and proportional for the proposal and will provide ecological net benefit on the site 
as required by the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, PPW11 and LDP Policy NE1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
 

 
6.7 Flooding 

The site is not in a designated flood zone identified in the DAM maps of TAN 15 
 
6.8 Drainage 

 
6.8.1 Foul Drainage 

 
There will be no additional foul drainage as a result of this proposal 

 
6.8.2 Surface Water Drainage 

 
The surface water from the roof of the stands will soak into the ground. The total construction area 
is above 100m2 (building footprint, yard area, hardstanding and parking bays) so SAB approval 
will be required prior to any works commencing on site. The applicant has been informed of this. 

 
6.9 Phosphates 

 
6.9.1 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 it is necessary to 
consider whether the development should be subject to a Habitat Regulations Assessment. This is   
in particular reference to the impact of increased concentrations of Phosphates on designated 
SACs. NRW has set new phosphate standards for the riverine SACs of the Wye and Usk and their 
catchment areas. Development that may increase the concentration of phosphates levels will be 
subject to appropriate assessment and HRA. This application site is outside of the phosphate 
sensitive area and so there will not be any detrimental impact on any protected SAC. As a result, no 
further assessment is required. 

 
6.10 Response to the Representations of Third Parties and Town Council 

 
6.10.1 Chepstow Town Council recommend approval of the application but question the level of 
parking provision and the surface water drainage from the stands. The parking provision has been 
discussed in detail above, although this development will not lead to an increase in the number of 
people using the club, the car park at the club is being increased by 11 spaces to help improve the 
existing parking stress in the local area. The surface water from roofs of the stands will need to be 
the subject of a SAB application, as will the extension to the car park. 

 
6.10.2 The majority of letters receive from residents were concerned about the increase in parking 
on the neighbouring residential streets. This has been considered in the main body of the report.  
This planning application is for the erection of two additional stands and the retention of an existing 
stand. The erection of the stands will not result in a significant increase of players, officials or 
supporters. The increase in the size of the car park within the grounds of the club to provide an 
additional 11 spaces and the match day parking management plan is considered suitable to mitigate 
against any additional harm over and above the existing situation. There is no reason why 
emergency vehicles could not get to the site as a result of this proposal. 

 
6.10.3 Reference is made to the loss of outlook from existing properties as a result of the proposed 
stands. However as addressed above it is considered that there are sufficient distances between 
the stands and the nearest residential properties so that there is no likelihood of significant loss of 
outlook or privacy to neighbouring residents. Given the distances involved and the existing 
vegetation along the boundary of the site, the stands will not have a harmful effect on neighbour 
amenity both in terms of being overbearing or by way of noise/ light disturbance. 

 

6.10.4 Reference has been made to the issues surrounding anti-social behaviour of patrons to the 
club house. It is not considered that the provisions of the stands will directly affect the behaviour of 
the patrons of the football club. The club house is operational at present and will continue to operate 
in its current capacity. Management of the club patrons is a matter for the staff of Chepstow AFC. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 
6.11 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 
6.11.1 The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales 
has been considered, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). In reaching this 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into 
account and it is considered that this recommendation is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers' well- 
being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

 
6.12 Conclusion 

 
6.12.1 Policy S5 of the Monmouthshire LDP states that development proposals that provide and/or 
enhance community and recreation facilities will be permitted within or adjoining town and village 
development boundaries subject to detailed planning considerations. The principle of a new stand 
on the existing football pitch within the development boundary is acceptable in policy terms. The 
proposal will improve the facilities at the club. The new stands are required to meet the FAW facility 
requirements to compete in Tier 2 of the Welsh amateur football pyramid. 

 
6.12.2 There is no direct correlation between the provision of the new stands and the number of 
spectators likely to attend matches at the site in the foreseeable future. The proposal will not result 
in more games being played at any one time as the number of pitches on the site is not increasing. 
The design of the stands is determined by their function and considered acceptable in this location. 
The design and finishing materials of the proposed structures would be in keeping with the general 
character of this football ground. The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of Policy DES1 
of the LDP in terms of providing high quality sustainable design. 

 
6.12.3 The distance of the proposed stands from neighbouring residential properties combined with 
their low height means that the residential amenity of nearby residents will not be compromised 
over and above the current situation. The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of policies 
EP1 and DES1 of the LDP. The size of the car park for the club accords with the adopted parking 
standards although given the considerable concern from local residents about the level of current 
parking on residential streets during match days, the proposal includes increasing the size of the 
existing car park by 11 spaces and providing a parking management plan mitigating these concerns. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 

Conditions: 

1 This development shall be begun within 5 years from the date of this permission. 

REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the list of approved plans set out 
in the table below. 

REASON: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings, for 
the avoidance of doubt. 

 
3 The Car Park Management Plan hereby approved shall be complied with from the date 
of this planning permission. Chepstow Town AFC shall operate in strict accordance with the 
provisions of the approved management plan in perpetuity. 
REASON: To ensure that parking can be managed in a way that it does not harm the amenities of 
local residents to ensure that the use accords with the objectives of policy EP1 and MV1 of the 
LDP. 

 
4 The extension to the car park as shown on Plan Ref: MH-8721 rev B. shall be completed in 
full in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the date of this approval. 
Reason: To ensure that parking can be managed in a way that it does not harm the amenities 
of local residents to ensure that the use accords with the objectives of policy EP1 and MV1 of 
the LDP. 

 
5 The biodiversity net benefit measures as illustrated in plans entitled MH-8721 rev B 
proposed Site plan shall be implemented in full and shall be retained as such in perpetuity. 

Page 22



Evidence of compliance with the plan in the form of georeferenced photographs must be provided 
to the LPA no more than three months later than the first beneficial use of the spectator stands 
hereby approved. 
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for protected and priority species and provide biodiversity 
net benefit ensuring compliance with PPW 11, the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and LDP policy 
NE1 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Application 

Number: 

DM/2021/01367 

 

Proposal: Change of use of building from offices to single dwelling with associated works 
 
Address: Ashbourne House, 33 Bridge Street, Chepstow  

 
Applicant: Mr and Mrs R Taylor 

 
Plans: Floor Plans - Existing 2341/1 - , Elevations - Existing 2341/2 - , Block Plan 2341/3 

G - Rev G, Floor Plans - Proposed 2341/4 - , Elevations - Proposed 2341/5 A - 
Rev A, Other FLOOD STATEMENT - , Heritage Statement - , Other  

 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve 
 
Case Officer: Ms Kate Young 

Date Valid: 10.08.2021 
 

This application is presented to Planning Committee due the number of objections received 

exceeding four 
 

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Site Description 

 

1.1 Ashbourne House is a three-storey property, originally built as a dwelling house but about 25 

years ago it was converted into offices and has remained in office use ever since. It occupies a 

prominent position with the property fronting onto Bridge Street and the rear facing towards 

Chepstow Castle. There is vehicular access through the Castle carpark and a large car parking 

area at the rear of the property within the existing curtilage. The property is finished in render with 

a slate roof. It is a Grade II listed building and located within the Chepstow Conservation Area. 
 

1.2 The site is located within the Chepstow Development Boundary. The rear part of the building 

along with the car parking area and vehicular access is located within a C1 Flood Zone as defined 

in the TAN 15 DAM maps. Under the provisions of the December 2021 TAN15 the Castle carpark 

is defined as being in the Defended Zone, although the updated maps and revised TAN15 have 

been suspended for 18 months. Thus, the building’s position in respect of current planning policy 

is that it is in a C1 Flood Zone. The site is also located within an Archaeologically Sensitive Area. 
 
1.3 A concurrent application for listed building consent has been submitted under DM/2021/01368.  

Value Added 

1.4 The detailed design of the proposal was discussed at the pre-application stage. All fencing and 

gates have now been removed from the proposal. Neighbours and interested parties were re- 
consulted on these amendments. 

 

Proposal Description 
 

1.5 The application seeks the conversion of the offices back into a single residential property. 
There will be no external alterations to the front of the property that faces onto Bridge Street. At  
the rear a roof lantern will be added to the existing single story extension. The large window on the 

side elevation facing into the courtyard will be changed to timber patio doors and a small new 

window will also be added to the side elevation which will serve a landing and face the existing 

store building. 
The existing access and car parking arrangement will not alter. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5b



2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (if any) 
 

Reference 

Number 
Description Decision Decision Date 

 

DM/2021/01367 Change of Use of building from 
offices to single dwelling with 

associated works  

Pending 

Determination 

 
 

DM/2021/01368 Change of Use of building from 
offices to single dwelling with 

associated works (LBC) 

Pending 

Determination 

 
 

 

3.0 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 

Strategic Policies 

S1 LDP The Spatial Distribution of New Housing Provision 

S12 LDP Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
S13 LDP Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
S16 LDP Transport 
S17 LDP Place Making and Design 

 

Development Management Policies 
 
HE1 LDP Development in Conservation Areas 

E1 LDP Protection of Existing Employment 
H1 LDP Residential Development in Main Towns, Severnside Settlements and Rural Secondary 

Settlements 
SD3 LDP Flood Risk 
SD4 LDP Sustainable Drainage 
NE1 LDP Nature Conservation and Development 
EP1 LDP Amenity and Environmental Protection 
MV1 LDP Proposed Developments and Highway Considerations 

DES1 LDP General Design Considerations 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

Chepstow Conservation Area Appraisal (March 2016): 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance/chepstow- 
conservation-area-appraisal 

 

Monmouthshire Parking Standards (January 2013) 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan- 
2013.pdf 

 

National Planning Policies (If Any) 
 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004): 
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en 

Page 26

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance/chepstow-
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan-
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en


Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: Development and Flood Risk (December 2021): 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-09/technical-advice-note-15.pdf 

 
4.0 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

Future Wales - the national plan 2040 

Future Wales is the national development framework, setting the direction for development in 

Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for addressing key national priorities 

through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 

decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health 

and well-being of our communities. Future Wales - the national plan 2040 is the national 
development framework and it is the highest tier plan, setting the direction for development in 

Wales to 2040. It is a framework that will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a regional 
level and Local Development Plans. Planning decisions at every level of the planning system in 

Wales must be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 
 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11 
 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the 

delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and 

cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation and resultant duties such as the 

Socio-economic Duty. 
 
A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and achieving 

sustainable places. PPW promotes action at all levels of the planning process which is conducive 

to maximising its contribution to the well-being of Wales and its communities. 
 
5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

5.1 Consultation Replies 
 

Chepstow Town Council – Approve 
 

MCC Highways - No objection 
The property is ideally located within walking distance of all available amenities and attractions you 

would expect and good access to bus and rail transport links. The application proposes the 

retention of the rear car parking area and access from the adjacent car park. 
 
MCC Heritage Officer - No objection 
Ashbourne House is a grade II listed building in the Chepstow Conservation Area. The proposal 
would restore the historic use of the building as a single dwelling. External alterations are minimal, 
focused on the rear elevation. The proposal will not impact the Conservation Area. 

 

MCC Environmental Health - No objection. 
 
Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) - No objection 
The application is for the change of use from offices to a dwelling. Whilst there will be changes to 

the interior, which is not included in the listing description, the footprint of the structure will remain 

unchanged. Therefore, it remains the case that is unlikely significant archaeological remains will 
be encountered. 

 

Cadw - No Objection. 
The removal of the proposed fence has significantly reduced the likely impact of the proposed 

development on the setting of the scheduled monument. The Heritage Impact Assessment 
contains sufficient information for us to conclude that whilst there may be a very slight visual 
change in the view from the Castle, this will not have any effect on the way that it is experienced, 

Page 27



understood and appreciated. Consequently, the proposed development will have no impact on the 

setting of scheduled monument MM002. 
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) - No objection 
The planning application proposes highly vulnerable development, change of use from offices to 

single dwelling. Our Flood Risk Map confirms the site to be within Zone C1 of the Development 
Advice Map (DAM) contained in TAN15. The FCA shows that the risks and consequences of 
flooding are manageable to an acceptable level. Therefore, we have no objection to the application 

as submitted. 
 
5.2 Neighbour Notification 

 

Letters received from five addresses following re-consultation on 09/09/21. 
 
Several residents in this Terrace have been subjected to retrospective planning obligations to re- 
visit alterations to their properties that in some instances were not carried out by the purchaser but 
by the previous occupant. This is as a result of the change from the status of Grade II to Grade II* 

for Castle Terrace. I believe the residents from no 37 down to no 33 as in the Title Deeds should 

have access to the grassed area adjacent to the Cadw Parking for service access and essential 
maintenance to their houses. They have prescriptive practical rights. 

 
It is considered that the historic gateway access from the Cadw Parking area should be re- 
established according to Listed Planning Law as it is in the curtilage of these Listed Buildings and 

a Conservation Area directly in front of Chepstow Castle. 
 
Concerns over the impact of the proposed boundary fence because of the impact on light and 

views to and from neighbours, it will look out of place in the Conservation Area and setting of the 

Listed building. 
 
Objections in relation to the installation of a gate, electric or otherwise, as it will prevent access for 
utilities. 

 
Concerns over the impact on the occupant of the new residential unit given the adjacent public 

house and potential noise disturbance. 
 

Concerns over enclosing the lawned area and restricting access to adjacent properties. 
 
Use of a second-floor side window in Ashbourne House (which was never used during business 

occupation) would mean loss of privacy for me and my neighbours as it directly overlooks our 
outside spaces. The change of use will result in an overall loss of privacy. 

 
Concerns over the loss of a business premises. 

 
Concerns about the loss of wildlife to the rear of the property, reference is made to Hedgehogs. 

Concerns over the ownership and rights to the land. 

Please note all representations can be read in full on the Council's website: 
https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN 

 
6.0 EVALUATION 

 

6.1 Principle of Development 
 
6.1.1 Policy S1 of the LDP says that the main focus for new housing development will be within 

the main towns of which Chepstow is one. Policy H1 of the LDP allows for residential conversion 

within development boundaries, subject to detailed planning considerations. There are residential 

Page 28



properties to the south of Ashbourne House, while the adjoining property to the north is a public 

house. The property was originally built as a residential property; therefore, the principle of 
residential development in this location is acceptable. PPW11 encourages residential development 
in sustainable locations saying that proposals for housing on infill and windfall sites within 

settlements should be supported where they accord with the national sustainable placemaking 

outcomes. 
 
6.1.2 The building is currently used as a B1 office use. The site is not within an area protected for 
employment purposes under Policy E1 of the LDP. The fact that these and many other office sites 
within Chepstow remain vacant would indicate that there is limited demand for such premises in 
this location. It is more beneficial for the character and appearance of the Conservation Area to 

have occupied residential units than it is to have a range of vacant commercial units. The loss of 
the office unit in this location would not be prejudicial to the aim of creating a balanced local 
economy given the variety of industrial and commercial facilities that are currently available in the 

area. Within the town centre there is a surplus of office accommodation and there is no policy 

reason for Ashbourne House to remain as offices as it is not in the Central Shopping Area. The 

principle of the proposed change of use therefore accords with Policies S1 and H1 of the LDP. 
 
6.2 Sustainability 

 

6.2.1 Chepstow Town Centre is one of the most sustainable locations within the County with 

good public transport links, including bus and train services within walking distance of the site. The 

occupiers of this property would also be able to walk to all of the facilities within the town centre. 
The LDP and PPW encourage sustainable development and promote making the most efficient 
use of brownfield land. The proposal accords with a key objective of PPW11 providing residential 
accommodation in a sustainable location. 

 
Good Design and Place Making 

 

6.2.2 Policy DES1 of the LDP requires that the proposed dwelling contributes to a sense of place 

while its intensity is compatible with existing uses. The application relates to a very imposing three 

storey listed building that makes a very positive contribution to the Chepstow Conservation Area. 
The rear elevation and access to the site are seen in the context of Chepstow Castle. There will be 

very few external alterations to the building. The front elevation that faces onto Bridge Street will 
not be altered in any way. In the rear, there will be a roof lantern over the existing flat roofed 

extension. The character of the roof lantern is in keeping with the character of the property. Cadw 

states that the new sky lights will result in a very slight visual change in the view from the Castle, 
although this will not have any effect on the way that the Castle is experienced, understood and 

appreciated. Thus, the proposed development will have no impact on the setting of scheduled 

monument MM002. The other alterations to the ground floor are the alterations of the large 
existing window on the side elevation to form new timber patio doors and the introduction of a 
new window on the side elevation. Both face towards the existing courtyard and store building 
and will not be visually prominent from any public vantage point. Following revision to the plans, 
the fence and gates have been omitted and so there will be no alterations to the boundary 

treatment of the site or the parking area. The building is listed and Listed Building Consent will 
consider the design in greater detail. 

 

6.2.3 This application seeks the conversion of an existing building. There are very few external 
alterations. The change of use will have very little impact on the design of the existing building; it 
will retain the building’s appearance and not alter the street scene. The design of the proposal is 

respectful of the prevailing character of the area and would contribute towards a sense of place. 
The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of Policy DES1 and HE1 of the LDP. PPW 11 

says that good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, 
work and socialise. The special character of an area should be central to its design. In this case 

the physical alterations are only minor and do not adversely affect the character of the area or alter 
the sense of place. 

 
6.3 Historic Environment 

Page 29



6.3.1 The impact on the Listed Building will be considered in full in the concurrent Listed Building 

Application which concludes that the proposal will restore the historic use of the building as a 

single dwelling. External alterations are minimal, focused on the rear elevation so the proposal will 
not fail to preserve the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 
The proposal therefore accords with the objectives of Policy HE1 of the LDP. 

 

6.4 Impact on Amenity 
 
6.4.1 The front of Ashbourne House looks over Badminton Gardens and there will be no 

alterations to the front elevation. There will be no overlooking of neighbouring properties from the 

proposed roof lantern as it is set into the ceiling above eye level. The new window on the ground 

floor looks directly into the existing storeroom of the property itself and does not overlook any 

neighbouring properties. The enlarged window to the kitchen faces south-west and looks towards 

an existing stone wall and green space. There will be no significant increase in overlooking or loss 

of privacy resulting from the conversion of this window into patio doors. All of the other windows on 

the property are existing. There will be no additional overlooking as a result of this proposal as the 

buildings form a terrace and have views north-west towards the Castle rather than onto each 
other. Residential amenity will not be affected by this change of use. The impact of the adjacent 
public house on the new occupants of the newly formed residential unit has been raised. However, 
the public house is existing and a new occupant will be moving into an existing situation and would 

be aware of the current use and activity associated with the property. The proposal accords with 

the objectives of Policy EP1 of the LDP as it does have regard to the privacy, amenity and health 
o f  the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

 

6.4.2 The local residents in adjoining properties have referred to loss of light and views resulting 

from the proposed fence. The proposed fence has been removed from the scheme and no new 

fences are being proposed. 
 

6.5 Highways 
 
Sustainable Transport Hierarchy 

 

6.5.1 PPW11 refers to the Sustainable Transport Hierarchy where walking and cycling are the 

highest priority and public transport second with private motor vehicles being the least desirable. In 

this case the site is located in the centre of Chepstow within easy walking distance to all the 

amenities and facilities in the Town Centre. The site is also within easy walking distance of good 

public transport links including the bus and railway stations. This site occupies one of the most 
sustainable locations in the County and the occupiers of this dwellings will be less reliant on the  

car to go about their daily business. 
 

Access / Highway Safety 
 

6.5.2 There will be no alterations to the vehicular access into the site. The amount of traffic 

generated as a result of the change of use may be less than the current office use. The Highway 

Authority have no objection to the proposal. 
 

Parking 
 

6.5.3 The adopted Monmouthshire Parking Guidelines require one car parking space per 
bedroom up to a maximum of three. In this case there are more than three off road parking spaces 

provided at the rear of the property; these will be unaltered so that the proposal accords with the 

objectives of Policy MV1 of the LDP 
 
6.6 Right of access and Land ownership 

 
6.6.1 Local residents have raised concerns regarding landownership and legal rights of access 

to the rear of their properties. These are not material planning considerations, rather they are 

private legal matters between the interested parties. The applicants have submitted title deeds to 

the property which shows that all of the land within the red line boundary is in the ownership of 

Page 30



Ashbourne House. There are five properties on Bridge Street whose rear gardens extend to the 

green garden space of Ashbourne House and it appears that the occupiers of some of those 

properties may cross the land to the rear of Ashbourne House to gain access. There is no definitive 
footpath shown on the Council’s records, but the residents of other properties may have historical 
private rights over the land. The neighbours state that the utility companies have the right to 
access their equipment and assets; this is correct and will not be affected by this proposal. 
The application has been amended and there is now no additional fencing. 

 
6.7 Flooding 

 
6.7.1 The rear part of the property, the access and parking area are all in a C1 Flood Zone have 

regard to the Development Advice Maps (DAM) contained in TAN15. The application proposes 

highly vulnerable development, a change of use from offices to a single dwelling. Policy S12 of the 

LDP refers to Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk, it states that " all new development must 
avoid the siting of inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding". 

 

6.7.2 LDP Policy SD3 also refers to flood risk and Section 6 of TAN15 requires the Local Planning 

Authority to determine whether the development in the location is justified with regards to the tests 

set out in section 6.2 of TAN15. The application has been supported by a Flood Consequence 

Assessment. NRW has reviewed the submitted FCA and concluded that the risks and 

consequences of flooding are manageable to an acceptable level. Therefore, they have no 

objection to the application as submitted. 
 
6.7.3 The tests in part 6 of the TAN set out that new development should only be permitted within 

zones C1 and C2 if determined by the planning authority to be justified in that location. 
Development will only be justified if it can be demonstrated that: 
i) its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority regeneration initiative 

or a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing settlement; or, 
ii) its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives supported by the 

local authority, and other key partners, to sustain an existing settlement or region; 
and, 
iii) it concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously developed land (PPW fig 

2.1); and, 
iv) the potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of development have 

been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in sections 5 and 7 and Appendix 1 found 

to be acceptable. 
 
6.7.4 In this case the application relates to the conversion of an existing building. The site has 

been previously developed and only a small part of the property will be in the flood zone. The 

proposal is required to sustain the existing settlement in Chepstow and provide much needed 

housing within the town. This also represents a new and sustainable use for the listed building 

which supports the need to preserve the County’s rich heritage. NRW has confirmed that the 

submitted FCA has demonstrated that the risks and consequences of flooding can be acceptably 

managed. The proposal therefore accords with the four tests outlined in paragraph 6 of TAN15. 
 

6.7.5 The new TAN 15 and Flood Map for Planning was intended to come into effect on 

Wednesday 1 December 2021 bringing in newly revised and updated mapping and more up to 

date policy. However, this has been suspended until June 2023 and so the revisions are not a 

material consideration in respect of this application. 
 

6.7.6 The changes however show that under the revised maps the site is partially in a Defended 

flood zone 2. The access and part of the parking provision for Ashbourne House is also in a TAN 

Defended Zone. In a TAN Defended Zone applications for development can proceed subject to the 

risks and consequences of flooding being acceptably managed. In this case the applicants are 

aware of the flooding issues and the flood emergency plans. The application relates to a change of 
use with no new build and so that the proposal will not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The 

house itself is outside the flood zone. On implementation the proposal will therefore accord with 

the advice given in the present version of the new TAN15. 

Page 31



6.8 Drainage 
 
Foul Drainage 

 

6.8.1 The foul water discharges to mains drains, there will be no increase in discharge as a 

result of this change of use. 
 
6.9  Surface Water Drainage 

 

6.9.1 There will be no increase in the amount of hard surfaces on the site as a result of this 

proposal. There will be no increase in the size of the footprint of the building and no increase in the 

car parking area. Rates of surface water flow will remain unchanged as a result of this change of 
use from offices to residential. 

 
6.10 Phosphates 

 

6.10.1 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 it is necessary to 

consider whether the development should be subject to a Habitat Regulations Assessment. This is 

in particular reference to the impact of increased concentrations of Phosphates on designated 

SACs. NRW has set new phosphate standards for the riverine SACs of the Wye and Usk and their 
catchment areas. Development that may increase the concentration of phosphates levels will be 

subject to appropriate assessment and HRA. This application is outside of the phosphate 

vulnerable area and so will not have a detrimental impact on any protected SAC, and as a result 
no further assessment is required. 

 
6.11 Biodiversity 

 

6.12.1 PPW11 sets out that "planning authorities must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in 
the exercise of their functions. This means that development should not cause any significant loss 
of habitats or populations of species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for 
biodiversity" (para 6.4.5 refers). This policy and subsequent policies in Chapter 6 of PPW 11 

respond to the Section 6 Duty of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. The proposal includes 

biodiversity enhancements in the form of bat and bird boxes on the rear of the dwelling. These 
measures have been shown on the elevation drawings and this will provide ecological net benefit 
on the site as required by the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and Planning PPW11. 

 
6.12 Response to the Representations of Third Parties 

 

6.12.1 The majority of the objections refer to a timber fence blocking access to the rear of 
adjoining properties in Bridge Street. The fence and electric gates have now been removed from 

the scheme and so no longer form part of the application. 
 

6.12.2 The right of access over a piece of land is not a material planning consideration. This right 
of access has not been conclusively proven, but it appears to be historical, but this is not a 

planning matter being a civil legal matter between the parties involved. The right of access for 
utilities and services will not be affected by the proposed change of use. No public rights of way 

will be blocked as a result of this application. 
 
6.12.3 An objector has referred to a second-floor window suggesting that this would increase the 

level of overlooking, but there are no new windows being proposed to the upper floors which would 

increase 
overlooking. The current use sees the building occupied throughout mainly business hours, and 

the residential use will mean the building is occupied most of the time, albeit to a lower intensity. 
For the reasons identified above the position of the building in relation to neighbours and the 

position of windows means that despite the longer periods of occupation the impact on overlooking 

would be limited and acceptable. 

Page 32



6.12.4 Neighbours are concerned by the impact on wildlife especially the fence preventing the 

movement of hedgehogs. The proposal does not now involve any new boundary treatments. The 

change of use of the property will not involve any alterations to habitats - in fact biodiversity 

enhancements are to be introduced in the form of bird and bat boxes. 
 

6.12.5 In addition, views of the Castle will not be impacted; the only physical alterations to the 

building are the enlargement of one window, the introduction of a small window on the side 

elevation and the installation of a roof lantern. Cadw has considered the impact of these on the 

Castle and concluded that the proposal will have no impact on the setting of scheduled monument 
MM002 Chepstow Castle. 

 
6.13  Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 

6.13.1 The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales 

has been considered, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). In reaching this 

recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into 

account and it is considered that this recommendation is in accordance with the sustainable 

development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers' well- 
being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

 

6.14 Conclusion 
 
6.14.1 For the reasons identified above it is considered that the change of use of the listed building 

is acceptable and meets the relevant policies by being located within the development boundary 

and in a sustainable location. It is not a protected employment site, provides the necessary parking 

and has sufficient access. It proposes suitable physical changes to the listed building and respects 

the setting and character of the area protecting the natural and built environment as well as 

maintaining neighbour amenity. The impact on flooding has also been assessed and considered 

acceptable. 
 

The proposals therefore accord with the policies identified above and the proposals are 

recommended for approval. 
 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 

Conditions: 

1 This development shall be begun within 5 years from the date of this permission. 

REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the list of approved plans set out 

in the table below. 
 

REASON: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings, for 
the avoidance of doubt. 

 
 

3 The Biodiversity net benefit measures as illustrated in plans entitled Proposed Elevations 

2341 5A submitted on 22/11/21, shall be implemented in full and shall be retained as such in 

perpetuity.  Evidence of compliance with the plan in the form of georeferenced photographs must 
be provided to the LPA no more than three months later than the first beneficial use of the 

extension commencing. 

Page 33



Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for protected and priority species and provide 

biodiversity net benefit ensuring compliance with PPW 11, the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and 

LDP policy NE1 

Page 34



Application 

Number: 

DM/2021/01421 

 

Proposal: Installation of new solar panels to roofs of existing railway carriages 

Address: Old Station, Tintern,  Chepstow, NP16 7NX   

Applicant: Monmouthshire County Council 

Plans: All Proposed Plans A9814/RC/01 - , Location Plan - , Other ECOLOGY REPORT 
- , Heritage Statement  

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

 

Case Officer: Ms. Kate Young 

Date Valid: 07.09.2021 
 

This application is presented to Planning Committee as the application is submitted by 

Monmouthshire County Council’s Tourism and Leisure Department and there are some 

unresolved objections 
 

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Site Description 

 

1.1 The site which is the subject of this application is the Old Station Railway and Picnic Site, 
Tintern. The site is located in an area of open countryside within the Wye Valley Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. There are several listed buildings and structures on the site but the 

existing railway carriages, sited permanently in the grounds of the station that are the subject of 
this application, are not deemed to be curtilage listed. 

 
1.2 The railway carriages lie wholly within a C2 Flood Zone as defined by the Development 
Advice Map (DAM) of Technical Advice Note (TAN)15 - Development and Flood Risk. The site is 

outside but adjacent to the 50m buffer of the Wye Valley Special Area of Conservation and is 

outside the Phosphorous Sensitive Area of the River Wye. 
 

Proposal Description 
 

1.3 The application seeks the erection of 16 solar panels on the roof of the railway carriages. 
Each carriage would have eight curved panels positioned centrally above each large window. The 

panels would measure 2.6m by 1m. The High Efficiency CIGS PV cells would be held in place by 

pressure. The solar panels would help to make the tourist attraction more energy efficient. 
 

1.4 The solar panels are part of a general upgrade of the facilities at Tintern Station. In many 

cases the provision of photovoltaic panels do not require the benefit of planning permission but in 

this case they do because the panels will be within one metre of the edge of the roof. 
 

A Heritage Impact Statement and an Ecology Report were submitted as part of the application. 
 
 
 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (if any) 

 

Reference 

Number 
Description Decision Decision Date 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5c



DM/2019/00022 Formation of new access door for 
transportation of sit on train unit, to 

and from current storage location 

within the signal box. 

Approved 04.04.2019 

 

DM/2021/01416 Proposed installation of 2no. 
shower/toilet blocks, to serve site 

visitors and nearby camp site. 

Pending 

Consideration 

 

DM/2021/01421 Installation of new solar panels to 
roofs of existing railway carriages. 

 

Pending 

Determination 

 

DC/2012/00543 Renewal of planning consent 
2007/00190 - Phase 1: to lay 500m of 
12 1/4 inch railway track from existing 

signal box to Brockweir bridge, to 

erect a steel carriage shed (clad in 

wood) to house engine and rolling 

stock. Phase 2: to continue track 

southwards by 280 metres. 

Approved 30.10.2012 

 

DC/2007/00190 Phase One - to lay 500 metres of 12 
1/4 inch railway track from existing 

signal box to Brockweir Bridge; to 

erect a steel carriage shed (clad in 

wood) to house engine & rolling stock 
- sited by play area. Phase Two - to 

continue track southwards by 280 

metres. 

Approved 29.06.2007 

 

DC/2006/01466 Re-surfacing Of Existing Stoned Approved 27.06.2006 

 Footpath On Dismantled Railway   
 Formation With Dense Bitumen   
 Macadam Binding Course Finished   
 With Sealing Grit, Of Dimensions -   
 2.5M Wide, 395M Long = 987.5 M2   

Page 36



DC/2014/00875 Siting of two moveable camping huts.     Withdrawn           25.11.2015 
 
 

DC/2009/00913 Replacement of two railway carriages Approved 18.11.2009 
 
 
DC/2010/00085 Flag to be flown from single flag pole. Approved 14.04.2010 

 

 

DC/2005/00059 Creation Of A Shared Surfaced Path 
For Cyclists & Pedestrians 

Approved 08.09.2006 

Page 37



 

3.0 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 

Strategic Policies 

S5 LDP Community and Recreation Facilities S11 
LDP Visitor Economy 
S12 LDP Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
S13 LDP Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment S17 
LDP Place Making and Design 

 
Development Management Policies 

 

SD1 LDP Renewable Energy 
SD2 LDP Sustainable Construction and Energy Efficiency LC4 
LDP Wye Valley AONB 
NE1 LDP Nature Conservation and Development EP1 
LDP Amenity and Environmental Protection DES1 
LDP General Design Considerations 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
Sustainable Tourism Accommodation SPG November 2017: 
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Sustainable-Tourism-Accommodation- 
SPG-November-2017.pdf 

 
Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency SPG March 2016: 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/renewable-energy-energy-efficiency-supplementary-planning- 
guidance 

 
National Planning Policies (If Any) 

 

Technical Advice Note 6 - Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010): 
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/policy/100722tan6en.pdf 

 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004): 
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en 

 
4.0 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

 

Future Wales - the national plan 2040 
 

Future Wales is the national development framework, setting the direction for development in 

Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for addressing key national priorities 

through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 

decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health 

and well-being of our communities. Future Wales - the national plan 2040 is the national 
development framework and it is the highest tier plan, setting the direction for development in 

Wales to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a 

regional level and Local Development Plans. Planning decisions at every level of the planning 

system in Wales must be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 
 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11 
 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the 

delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and 

cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation and resultant 
duties such as the Socio-economic Duty. 

 

A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and achieving 

sustainable places. PPW promotes action at all levels of the planning process which is conducive 

Page 38

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Sustainable-Tourism-Accommodation-
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/renewable-energy-energy-efficiency-supplementary-planning-
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/policy/100722tan6en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en


to maximising its contribution to the well-being of Wales and its communities. 
 

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.1  Consultation Replies 

 

Tintern Community Council - Approve 
 
MCC Heritage - No Objection 
The structures in question are later reinstatement train carriages, to the historic, Grade II listed 

station buildings at Tintern. 
As the carriages originally in situ have been replaced since listing with other historic carriages, 
they have previously been considered not to be curtilage listed structures and therefore do not 
need Listed Building Consent for alteration. 
Notwithstanding this, the primary consideration for development within the curtilage of a listed 

building is the preservation of its special interest, which includes it setting. 
The works proposed however are particularly 'light-touch' in their use of solar units which match 

the profile of the current roof, and we see no reason why these would affect the visual form of the 

carriages or the setting of the listed building as a result. 
 
MCC Ecology - No objection 
The Old Station building itself will not be impacted by the current proposals, and therefore roosting 

bats should not be impacted. 
 

5.2  Neighbour Notification 
 

These proposals are trying to introduce changes to the carriages and land that are not just 
contrary to the laws and covenants that protect them but detrimental to public amenity and 

endangered species in the meadows 
and field. 

 
The biodiversity and protected habitats will suffer.  

5.3 Other Representations 

Brockweir Community Council - Supports the application. 

 

It was strongly felt that any enhancements to the site would bring significant benefit to the local 
community. 

 
Tintern Station Friends - Introducing changes to the carriages and land that were never intended 

and contrary to covenants and other protections. 
Tintern Station Picnic Area is not a tourist attraction to be developed commercially. 
Proposals do not preserve the unique distinctiveness of this setting and its sense of place. 
There will be adverse impact on the historic environment and heritage of this site. 
On the face of it solar panels are an environmentally friendly addition but that is before reading the 

intended plans: 
Detract from the historic and traditional use. 
Not in keeping with the environment of the carriages or an AONB. 
The carriages were replaced in 2009/10 using heritage lottery funding, and have not been 

maintained since. 
MonLife have not allowed the carriages to open. 
Turning Tintern Station Picnic Area into a tourist accommodation site and entertainment venue is 

contrary to its heritage and listed designation: 
Not subservient to the primary purpose to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the area. 
It will harm the character of the area. 
The ecology report is limited in its remit. 
Flooding may not be an issue for the solar panels but it will be for electrical cables etc. below the 

carriages including heat pumps. 
Consultation and publicity procedures were not followed. 
Where are the planning applications for the alarm and CCTV cameras, the new car parking 

machine and signage? None of these additions are in keeping with the heritage site and must 

Page 39



breach CADW guidelines. 
These proposals neither maintain nor protect the character and unique quality of this site nor 
enhance its cultural heritage and historic environment. 
Little regard to the conservation areas, biodiversity and ecological heritage. 
Does not improve the environmental and cultural well-being of residents and visitors. 
MCC will be approving a planning application for its own commercial business, to increase income 

at the expense of residents, heritage and conservation. 
 
Please note all representations can be read in full on the Council's 
website: https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/?lang=EN 

 

6.0 EVALUATION 
 
6.1 Principle of Development 

 

6.1.1 The proposed solar panels are part of a larger scheme to decarbonise the site and 
to improve visitor facilities. 
PPW11 supports facilitating the move towards decarbonising the economy and reducing reliance 

on energy generated from fossil fuels, it encourages the use of renewable energy and actively 

managing the transition to a low carbon economy. Policy S12 of the LDP supports sustainable 
and efficient resource use; this includes energy efficiency and increasing the supply of renewable 

energy. In a small way, the installation of these solar panels on the roof of the railway carriages, 
will help to meet the objectives of PPW by providing more sustainable energy for this tourist 
facility. The alterations will make the site more energy efficient and reduce its environmental 
impact. Thus, the proposal is acceptable in principle. 

 

Policy SD1 of the LDP sets out that renewable energy schemes will be permitted where: 
(1) There are no unacceptable adverse impacts upon the 
landscape, townscape and historic features and there is compliance 
with Policy LC5, with regard to protection and enhancement of 
landscape character; 
(2) There are no unacceptable adverse impacts on biodiversity; 
(3) There are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenities of 
nearby residents by way of noise, dust, odour or increases in 
traffic; 

(4) The wider environmental, economic, social and community 
benefits directly related to the scheme outweigh any potentially 
adverse impacts; and 
(5) The distinct identity of Monmouthshire will not be compromised. 
For all types of renewable energy, cumulative impacts will be an important consideration where 

there are other renewable energy schemes currently operating in the area. 
 
Policy SD2 of the LDP refers specifically to proposals for the installation of renewable and low 

carbon technologies on existing buildings and says that they will be permitted subject to detailed 

planning considerations. The principle of providing solar panels is acceptable and complies with 

one of the key objectives of PPW11 and the development plan for encouraging renewable energy 

and reducing reliance on fossil fuels. 
 

The site is a well-established tourist facility and Policy S11 of the LDP supports development 
proposals that provide sustainable forms of tourism. 

 

6.2 Sustainability 
 
6.2.1 The solar panels are being installed to make the site more energy efficient, reduce its 

environmental impact and enhance the tourist experience. This is an objective that promotes 

sustainability and reduces dependence on fossil fuels by providing a more renewable energy 

source. 
 
Good Design and Place Making 

 

6.2.2 PPW 11 says that good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where 

Page 40



people want to live, work and socialise. The special character of an area should be central to its 
design.  In this case the solar panels would be installed on the roof and held on place by 
pressure. They are made of a thin, flexible material that follows the contours and shape of the 
carriage roofs. The roof of the carriages are already painted black so the black panels will have 
very little additional visual impact. There is no upstand on the panels so when viewed from the 
ground they would appear as though the roof of the carriages had been re-painted. MCC’s 
Heritage Officer has no objection to the proposal saying that, "The works proposed are 
particularly 'light-touch' in their use of solar units which match the profile of the current roof and 
this will not affect the visual form of  the carriages or the setting of the listed building as a result." 
The proposal will preserve the special interest and setting of the listed buildings on the site. 
The proposed new solar panels on the roof of the railway carriages are considered acceptable 
and would comply with the objectives of Policy DES1 of the LDP and PPW11, promoting good 
design. The panels will have very little visual impact and will preserve the natural beauty of the 
Wye Valley. Therefore, they comply with Policy LC4 of the LDP. 

 
Energy 

 

6.2.3 The proposal will have very little visual impact and therefore there will be no unacceptable 

adverse impacts upon the surrounding landscape. The site is surrounded by mature trees which 

help to screen the railway carriages when viewed in the wider landscape. There will be no impact 
on the landscape character of the area. The site is outside of the Tintern Conservation area and 

not seen within the context of Tintern Abbey. There will be no impact on biodiversity as the panels 

will be attached to the roof of the carriages and there is limited potential for bat roosts within the 

carriages. There are no residential properties within 50 metres of the site that could be affected 
by way of noise, dust, odour or increase in traffic. In this case there would be minimal impact 
resulting from the proposal. There are no other renewable energy schemes close to the site so 
there is no cumulative impact. When the technology is no longer operational it can be removed 
from the site and this can be imposed by condition. The proposal therefor accords with all of the 
objectives of Policy SD1 of the LDP. 

 

6.3 Biodiversity 
 

6.3.1 An Ecology Survey Report by Just Mammals was submitted as part of the application. 
An external and internal daytime inspection of the carriages was carried out in May 2021 and 
found no evidence for the presence of bats. 
No potential roost features were identified in the railway carriages and with a negligible level of 
potential, no additional survey effort was directed to these structures. Internal and external 
inspection of the carriages found no live bats or evidence of roosting, no bat droppings or insect 
remains. No features were identified to offer roosting opportunities for bats within the structure of 
the carriages. A single inactive bird nest was found under the northern carriage. The proposed 

work underneath the carriages will avoid the bird nesting season of March to August (inclusive). 
MCC Ecologists have reviewed the submitted survey report and agree with its findings and 

recommendations. The Old Station building itself will not be impacted by the current proposals, 
and therefore roosting bats should not be impacted. Where works cannot be undertaken outside 
of the nesting bird season (March - August), a pre-works inspection by an experienced ecologist 
should be undertaken. 
The submitted ecology report recommends that two additional bird boxes are installed at the site. 
This is considered an appropriate level of enhancement for an application of this scale. However, 
the location or specification of the boxes has not been shown on any of the submitted plans. This 

can be conditioned. 
 
6.4 Impact on Amenity 

 

6.4.1 The nearest residential property to the carriages is Station House approximately 52 
metres to the north-west. It is set at a higher level than the carriages but given the intervening 
distance and the mature trees at the site, the occupiers of Station House will not be affected by 
the proposed solar panels. There are no other residential properties in the near vicinity that could 
be affected by this proposal. 

 
6.5 Highways 

 
6.5.1 There are no highway implications as a result of this development. There will be 

Page 41



no increase in traffic or loss of parking spaces resulting from the siting of the solar panels. 
 

6.6 Flooding 
 
The railway carriages lie wholly within a C2 Flood Zone as defined by the Development Advice 

Map (DAM) of Technical Advice Note (TAN)15. The solar panels are to be located on the roofs of 
the existing carriages and therefore will have no impact on flood levels. If additional equipment is 

required at ground level at some point in the future, it will be assessed on its merits subject to the 

details to be supplied. The current application only relates to the siting of the panels themselves 

and these do not impact on flooding. 
 
6.7 Phosphates 

 

6.7.1 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 it is necessary to 

consider whether the development should be subject to a Habitat Regulations Assessment. This 
is in particular reference to the impact of increased concentrations of Phosphates on designated 

SACs. NRW has set new phosphate standards for the riverine SACs of the Wye and Usk and their 
catchment areas. Development that may increase the concentration of phosphates levels will be 

subject to appropriate assessment and HRA. This application is outside of the SAC catchment 
and does not result in any foul water discharge and therefore it will not have a detrimental impact 
on any protected SAC, and as a result no further assessment is required. 

 
6.8 Tourism 

 

6.8.1 The site is a well-established tourist facility and Policy S11 of the LDP supports 

development proposals that provide sustainable forms of tourism. The provision of solar panels 
on the roof of the existing carriages will not affect the number of people who visit the site. 

 

6.9 Response to the Representations of Third Parties 
 

One local resident says that the proposals are contrary to the laws and covenants that protect the 

carriages; there may be covenants in place but that is a private legal matter between the parties 

involved and not a material planning consideration. It is for the local planning authority to 
determine the application based on adopted planning policy and advice. Planning and heritage 
officers do not consider that the solar panels are detrimental to public amenity for the reasons 
stated above. The issues of ecology have been discussed in detail in the main body of the report 
and the positioning of solar panels on the roof of the carriages was found not to have a 
detrimental impact on protected species. 
Friends of Tintern Station set out that this is not a tourist attraction that should be developed 

commercially. Planning officers consider that provided that the alterations are sensitive and 

respect their historic setting, there is no reason why the site cannot be developed commercially. 
It is the Council’s policy to support the growth of sustainable tourism. The solar panels will have 
very little visual impact and will preserve the character of the Wye Valley AONB. This current 
application is for solar panels only and other developments on the site will be determined on their 
merits if planning permission is required. 

 

6.10 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
6.10.1 The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales 

has been considered, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 
of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). In reaching this 

recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into 

account and it is considered that this recommendation is in accordance with the sustainable 

development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers' well- 
being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

 
6.11 Conclusion 

 
6.11.1 The alterations will make the site more energy efficient and reduce its environmental 
impact; the proposal therefore accords with one of the key objectives of PPW11 as well as LDP 

Policy S12 both of which support sustainable and efficient resource use. The proposal also 

complies with the objectives of LDP Policy SD2 which refers specifically to proposals for the 

Page 42



installation of renewable and low carbon technologies on existing buildings. The site is a well- 
established tourist facility and Policy S11 of the LDP supports development proposals that 
provide sustainable forms of tourism. The proposed new solar panels on the roof of the railway 
carriages are acceptable and comply with the objectives of LDP Policy DES and PPW11 in 
promoting good design. The panels will have minimal visual impact and would preserve the 
natural beauty of the Wye Valley, complying with LDP Policy LC4. The proposal will preserve the 
special interest and setting of the listed buildings on the site. The solar panels will not harm any 
ecological interests and comply with the objectives of LDP Policy NE1. 
This planning application is policy compliant in all respects and is therefore recommended for 
approval. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 

 
  Conditions: 
 

1 This development shall be begun within 5 years from the date of this 
permission.  
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the list of approved plans set 

out in the table below. 
REASON: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings, 
for the avoidance of doubt. 

 
3 Within six months of the cessation of electricity generation by the facility, all associated 

works/equipment shall be removed from the site and the land restored to its previous condition in 

accordance with the approved restoration plan. 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with LDP Policy DES1. 

 
4 No works to the train carriages shall take place between 1st March and 31st August 

inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a pre-works inspection of the carriage(s) 
for active birds' nests immediately before the work commences and provided written confirmation 
that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate measures in place to protect 
nesting bird interest on site. Any such written confirmation should be submitted to the local 
planning authority. 
REASON: to ensure that nesting birds are not disturbed by development works and to enable the 

Local Authority to fulfil its obligation under Section 25 (1) of the Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981) 
as amended. 

 
5 Prior to the commencement of development, full details of bird enhancement measures 

as proposed within Section 10.7 of the submitted 'Ecological Survey Report' by Just Mammals 
Ltd shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This shall 
include full details of the location and specification of the bird boxes/nests/cups and the timing of 
their inclusion. The details shall then be implemented as approved and shall be retained in 
perpetuity. 
REASON: To provide biodiversity net benefit and ensure compliance with PPW11, the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and LDP Policy NE1 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 22/11/21 Site visit made on 22/11/21 

gan Richard E. Jenkins BA (Hons) MSC 
MRTPI 

by Richard E. Jenkins BA (Hons) MSC 
MRTPI  

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion 
Cymru 

an Inspector appointed by the Welsh 
Ministers 

Dyddiad: 17/01/2022 Date: 17/01/2022 
 

Appeal Ref: APP/E6840/X/21/3276396 

Site address: Ravensnest Fishery, Ravensnest Wood Road, Tintern, NP16 6TP  

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me 
as the appointed Inspector. 

 
• The appeal is made under section 195 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 against a refusal 
to grant a certificate of lawful use of development (LDC). 

• The appeal is made by Mr Russell Cassidy against the decision of Monmouthshire 
County Council. 

• The application Ref: DM/2020/01035, dated 30 July 2020, was refused by notice 
dated 2 /April 2021 

• The application was made under section 191(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended. 

• The development for which a certificate of lawful use or development is sought is 
described on the application form as the siting of a log cabin ancillary to the use of 
the Ravensnest Fishery which meets the legal definition of a caravan under the 
Caravans Act 1968. 

 

Decision 
 The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 
 A Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development (CLEUD) (Ref: DC/2012/00525) was 

granted on the appeal site in August 2012 for the “siting of touring caravan ancillary to the 
use of the fishery”. A subsequent Certificate of Lawful Proposed Use or Development 
(CLPUD) was issued by the Council on 26 September 2016 (Ref: DC/2016/00729). That 
CLPUD confirmed the lawfulness of a “use or operation” described as: “Replace touring 
caravan with a log cabin to provide ancillary accommodation for fishery”.  

 The CLPUD not only makes reference to the above description but it also refers to “plans 
referred to in the Third Schedule” to the Certificate. That schedule, in turn, refers to an 
email dated 4 September 2016 from a company, namely Polar Lodges, who were looking 
to supply the applicants for the certificate with a “mobile lodge to replace a static caravan 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6a



Appeal Ref: APP/E6840/X/21/3276396 

 

 

2 

that has historically been on the site”. The reasons given for granting the certificate 
includes that “it would meet the requirements outlined in the Caravan Act 1968 Part III 
Section 13 for a twin unit caravan”. It goes on to state that provided the “replacement twin 
caravan is sited in accordance with the Caravan Act 1968 the development would be 
deemed lawful”. It also explains that the use should be ancillary accommodation for 
fishery.  

 An Enforcement Notice was issued on 2 October 2018. The breach of planning control 
was the erection of an unauthorised timber framed building. That Enforcement Notice was 
subsequently subject to an appeal under ground (c)1, although the appeal was dismissed 
on the basis that the structure subject of the Notice did not fall within the statutory 
definition of a caravan, but rather operational development that falls outside of the scope 
of the previously issued CLPUD. The requirements of the Enforcement Notice upheld in 
that instance were varied through the appeal process. Subject to variations, the 
requirements of the Notice were: i) Remove the timber framed building; ii) Remove from 
the land all building materials and rubble arising from compliance with (i) above; and       
iii) Remove the retaining wall noted and re-seed the immediate are [sic] with grass seed. 

Main Issue 
 The main issue in this case is whether the Council’s decision not to issue a Lawful 

Development Certificate (LDC) was well-founded. 

Reasons 
 The appeal proposal seeks an LDC to certify that the structure currently located on the 

appeal site is lawful. However, Section 191(2) of the above Act states that uses and 
operations are lawful at any time if: a) no enforcement action may be taken in respect of 
them; and b) they do not constitute a contravention of any of the requirements of any 
Enforcement Notice in force. The appellant’s Statement of Case clarifies that the structure 
has been modified on site to make it accord with the definition of a caravan under the 
Caravan Sites Act. However, whilst such modifications remain unspecified, I have not 
seen anything to lead me to believe that the requirements of the Enforcement Notice 
upheld under Appeal Ref: APP/E6840/C/18/3213252 have been satisfied. As such, and 
bearing in mind the fact that the Council has confirmed that the Enforcement Notice 
remains in force, it follows that the development cannot be lawful. 

 For this reason, and having considered all matters raised, I find that the Council’s decision 
not to issue an LDC was well-founded. The appeal should therefore be dismissed. 

Richard E. Jenkins 
INSPECTOR 

 

                                            
1  Appeal Ref: APP/E6840/C/18/3213252 

Page 46


	Agenda
	4 To confirm for accuracy the minutes of the previous meeting.
	Minutes

	5a Application DM/2021/01277 - Retention of existing 100-seater stand. Proposed 100 seated stand, proposed 50 seated stand and extension to car park. Chepstow Town AFC, Larkfield Park, Chepstow, NP16 5PR.
	5b Application DM/2021/01367 - Change of use of building from offices to single dwelling with associated works. Ashbourne House, 33 Bridge Street, Chepstow.
	5c Application DM/2021/01421 - Installation of new solar panels to roofs of existing railway carriages. Old Station, Tintern,  Chepstow, NP16 7NX.
	6a Ravensnest Fishery, Ravensnest Wood Road, Tintern.
	Appeal Decision
	gan Richard E. Jenkins BA (Hons) MSC MRTPI
	by Richard E. Jenkins BA (Hons) MSC MRTPI 
	Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru
	an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers
	Dyddiad: 17/01/2022
	Date: 17/01/2022
	Appeal Ref: APP/E6840/X/21/3276396
	Site address: Ravensnest Fishery, Ravensnest Wood Road, Tintern, NP16 6TP 
	The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the appointed Inspector.


	Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl
	Decision
	Preliminary Matters
	Main Issue
	Reasons


